

Wellbeing, Stress & Burnout

A National Survey of Managers in Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Services

> Vinita Duraisingam Ann M. Roche Ken Pidd Andrea Zoontjens Yvette Pollard





Wellbeing, Stress & Burnout

A National Survey of Managers in Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Services

> Vinita Duraisingam Ann M. Roche Ken Pidd Andrea Zoontjens Yvette Pollard

© National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, 2007

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced by any process without prior written permission from the National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, Flinders University. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001.

National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA)

Flinders University GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia 5001 Telephone: +61 8 82017535 Facsimile: +61 8 82017550 Email: nceta@flinders.edu.au Website: http://www.nceta.flinders.edu.au

ISBN: 1 876897 13 9

Suggested citation:

Duraisingam, V., Roche, A.M., Pidd, K., Zoontjens, A. & Pollard, Y. (2007). Wellbeing, Stress and Burnout: A National Survey of Managers in Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Services. Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University,

Acknowledgments

The project was funded by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, with additional support provided by the South Australian Department of Health.

The authors wish to thank all the managers and supervisors of AOD treatment services who participated in this study for their generous contribution of their time, support and interest in the project.

Thanks are also extended to Dr. Natalie Skinner for her input into the development and implementation of the project, Ms Hiroe Terao for her assistance with the distribution of the surveys, and Mr. Toby Freeman for his advice and help with the statistical analyses. This publication is part of a suite of resources addressing worker health and wellbeing in the AOD field. Other publications in this series include:

Skinner, N. & Roche, A.M. (2005). Stress and Burnout: A Prevention Handbook for the Alcohol and Other Drugs Workforce. A workforce development resource. Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University.

Duraisingam, V., Pidd, K., Roche, A.M. & O'Connor, J. (2006). Satisfaction, Stress and Retention Among Alcohol and Other Drug Workers in Australia. Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia.

Available at www.nceta.flinders.edu.au or e-mail nceta@flinders.edu.au for a free copy.

About NCETA

The National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) is an internationally recognised research centre that works as a catalyst for change in the alcohol and other drugs (AOD) field. The promotion of Workforce Development (WFD) principles, research and evaluation of effective practices is NCETA's core business.

Established in 1992, NCETA is a collaborative venture between Flinders University and the South Australian Department of Health. Since 1999, NCETA has been funded by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing through the National Drug Strategy. NCETA is located within the School of Medicine at Flinders University in South Australia.

NCETA's mission is to advance the capacity of health and human services organisations and workers to respond to alcohol- and drug-related problems.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	V
INTRODUCTION	1
Indicators of Wellbeing	1
Job Satisfaction	2
Organisational Commitment	2
Stress / Burnout	2
Turnover Intention	3
Predictors of Workplace Wellbeing	4
Rationale	5
METHODOLOGY	7
Sampling Frame	7
Ethics Approval	7
Survey Instrument	7
Measures	7
Working conditions	7
Wellbeing indicators	10
Demographics	12
Procedure	12
Analyses	12
RESULTS	13
Respondents' Demographics	13
Gender	13
Age	14
Length of service	14
Profession and qualifications	15
AOD-specific qualifications / training	17
Location	18
Working Conditions	19
Management challenges	19
Management roles and responsibilities	20
Relations with professional colleagues	22
Recognition and rewards	25
Physical work environment	28
Professional development	28
Organisational support	30

Job Attitudes	31
Burnout	32
Turnover Intention	34
Predictors of Wellbeing	35
Predictors of Job Attitudes	35
Predictors of Burnout	36
Predictors of Turnover Intention	37
DISCUSSION	39
Indicators of Wellbeing	39
Critical Workplace Factors	40
Positive work factors	40
Negative work factors	42
Younger and Less Experienced Managers at Greater Risk	44
Managers in Government Treatment Agencies	44
Conclusion	45
REFERENCES	47
APPENDIX I: THE SURVEY INSTRUMENT	51
APPENDIX II: CORRELATIONS BETWEEN WORK FACTORS AND WELLBEING INDICATORS	59

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Mean length of service and standard deviations across professions	15
Table 2:	Proportion of respondents by work status	16
Table 3:	Proportion of respondents by highest qualifications completed	16
Table 4:	Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-related training courses or qualifications	17
Table 5:	Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-specific training by occupation	17
Table 6:	Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-specific training by organisational sector	18
Table 7:	Proportion of respondents by geographic location	18
Table 8:	Responses regarding work issues that create the most pressure	19
Table 9:	Responses to items in the Workload Scale	20
Table 10:	Responses to items in the Job Autonomy Scale	21
Table 11:	Responses to items in the Role Ambiguity Scale	21
Table 12:	Responses to items in the Role Conflict Scale	22
Table 13:	Responses to items in the Workplace Support Scale	23
Table 14:	Responses to items in the Lack of Perceived Reciprocity Scale	24
Table 15:	Responses regarding the challenges of managing a diverse workforce	24
Table 16:	Responses to items in the Adequacy of Remuneration Scale	25
Table 17:	Responses to items in the Knowledge of Performance Scale	26
Table 18:	Responses to items in the Rewards for Performance Scale	27
Table 19:	Responses to items in the Physical Work Environment Scale	28
Table 20:	Responses to items in the Perceived Management Competency Scale	29
Table 21:	Responses regarding support for professional development	29
Table 22:	Responses to items in the Organisational Support Scale	30
Table 23:	Responses to items in the Job Satisfaction Scale	31
Table 24:	Responses to items in the Organisational Commitment Scale	31
Table 25:	Responses to items in the Exhaustion Scale	32
Table 26:	Responses to items in the Cynicism Scale	33
Table 27:	Responses to items in the Professional Efficacy Scale	33
Table 28:	Responses to items in the Turnover Intention Scale	34

Table 29:	Responses regarding changing jobs as a career strategy	34
Table 30:	Predictor variables for job satisfaction	35
Table 31:	Predictor variables for organisational commitment	35
Table 33:	Predictor variables for exhaustion	36
Table 33:	Predictor variables for cynicism	36
Table 34:	Predictor variables for professional efficacy	37
Table 35:	Predictor variables for turnover intention	37
Table 36:	Predictors of wellbeing	40

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure1:	Proportion of male and female AOD managers across organisational	
	sectors	13
Figure 2:	Proportion of AOD managers by age group $(n = 267)$	14
Figure 3:	Proportion of respondents by length of service in the AOD field, current organisation, and as an AOD manager	14
Figure 4:	Proportion of respondents by profession ($n = 275$)	15
Figure 5:	Proportion of respondents by profession and organisational sector	16
Figure 6:	Proportion of respondents by profession and highest qualification completed	17
Figure 7:	Proportion of respondents by state / territory ($n = 273$)	18
Figure 8:	Proportion of respondents across organisational sector and geographical location	19

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents key findings from a national survey of managers of Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) specialist treatment services. The study was undertaken by the National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA).

The primary aim of the study was to examine the indicators and predictors of occupational wellbeing in managers and supervisors of AOD treatment services in Australia. The key indicators investigated were job satisfaction, organisational commitment, a measure of burnout, and turnover intention.

Data Collection

- The 2001 Clients of Treatment Service Agencies (COTSA) database was used as the sampling frame for the study.
- Surveys were sent to all 442 managers from eligible agencies listed in the COTSA database and 280 surveys were returned.
- The overall response rate was 63%.

Sample Characteristics

The main characteristics of the 280 AOD managers who completed the survey were:

- Females (61%); males (39%)
- Mean age was 47 years (range 27-67 years). Nearly two-thirds of managers (63%) were 45 years and over
- Work status: majority permanent (85%) and full-time (94%)
- Median length of service as an AOD manager was 4 years (range <1-35 years)
- Median length of service in current workplace was 5.5 years (range <1-44 years)
- Median length of service in the AOD field was 9 years (range <1-35 years)
- Sector: non-government (53%), government (40%), private (7%)
- Location: urban (50%), regional (22%), rural (25%), other (3%)
- Profession: predominantly nurses (36%) and generalist AOD workers (22%)
- Academic qualifications: mainly university-qualified (76%)
- AOD training: non-accredited and accredited short courses were the AOD-related training options most frequently undertaken by managers.
 Four out of five managers with AOD-generalist backgrounds had completed AOD tertiary training compared to less than half the managers with nursing and social work backgrounds.

Wellbeing Indicators

Job satisfaction and organisational commitment

 The majority of managers were satisfied with their jobs and were committed to their organisation.

Burnout: exhaustion, cynicism and professional efficacy

Overall, nearly a third of managers reported levels of burnout above the midpoint and 8% of all managers indicated experiencing very high levels of burnout.

- 30% of managers reported high levels of exhaustion from work
- 17% of managers reported feeling cynical about work
- Only a minority reported low levels of professional capability.

Turnover intention

- 61% of managers had thought about leaving their job and 29% planned to look for a new job over the next 12 months.
- One in five of all managers expressed intentions to look for a new job outside the AOD field.

Predictors of Wellbeing: Critical Workplace Factors

Several workplace factors were identified as significant predictors that were positively and negatively associated with managers' wellbeing. The table below outlines the predictors of job satisfaction, organisational commitment and professional efficacy (left-hand column) and contrasts these with the predictors of turnover intention, exhaustion and cynicism (right-hand column).

Predictors that enhance wellbeing	Predictors that impair wellbeing
Perceived reciprocity	(Lack of) perceived reciprocity
Perceived management competency	(Lack of) perceived management competency
Workplace support	(Low) workplace support
Job autonomy	(Lack of) job autonomy
Organisational support	(Lack of) knowledge of performance
(Lack of) role ambiguity	(Lack of) rewards for performance
(Safe & pleasant) physical work environment	(Poor) physical work environment
	(Excessive) workload

Younger and Less Experienced Managers at Risk

Compared to older managers, a significantly larger proportion of younger managers reported:

- Higher levels of exhaustion, intention to quit and role conflict
- Lower levels of perceived managerial competency due to a lack of management training and skills.

Compared to more experienced managers, a significantly greater proportion of managers with fewer years of experience reported:

- Difficulties in managing a diverse workforce
- Greater uncertainty in their work roles
- Less perceived competence as a manager
- Inadequate workplace support
- · Less job autonomy
- Lack of financial rewards for performance
- Less support for professional development from upper management.

Managers in Government Treatment Agencies

Significant differences were found in working conditions and attitudes of AOD managers from the government sector in comparison to managers from other sectors.

- A greater proportion of government agency managers reported higher levels of perceived inequity of rewards in return for effort invested in their staff and organisation; lower levels of job autonomy; higher levels of conflict between clinical and administrative roles; less safe and / or pleasant working environments; and lower levels of organisational commitment, compared to managers from non-government agencies.
- Compared to managers from private agencies, proportionally more government agency managers reported greater uncertainty in their roles; lower probability of financial rewards for performance; and less satisfaction with their pay.



For a report on key findings from NCETA's national survey on satisfaction, stress and retention of frontline workers in AOD treatment services, please refer to:

Duraisingam, V., Pidd, K., Roche, A.M. & O'Connor, J. (2006). *Satisfaction, Stress and Retention Among Alcohol and Other Drug Workers in Australia.* Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University. Available at: www.nceta.flinders.edu.au

Workforce Development Implications

In order to improve managers' wellbeing, AOD treatment services need to enhance levels of job satisfaction and organisational commitment, and minimise or prevent burnout and turnover intention. In particular, strategies and interventions are needed which focus on workplace factors that influence burnout and turnover intention, as indicated below.

Issues Identified	Strategies Recommended
1. Lack of perceived reciprocity	Encourage staff and managers' Board and senior managers to ensure reciprocity in terms of rewards in return for efforts invested into an AOD service
2. Lack of perceived competency as a manager	Provide management training (an expressed need of almost half of all managers)
3. Lack of rewards for performance	Offer rewards such as recognition, praise, pay rises, promotions and positive performance appraisals, for good performance
4. Excessive workload	Help managers handle their workload more efficiently; provide de- briefing mechanisms to help cope with stress; boost their resources such as support and rewards to buffer their work demands
5. Younger, and less experienced managers at greater risk	Particular attention is required for these groups in the form of tailored, proactive support, and opportunities for management training

For more information on effective strategies to improve the wellbeing of the AOD workforce, please refer to the following NCETA resources:



Skinner, N. & Roche, A.M. (2005). *Stress and Burnout: A prevention handbook for the alcohol and other drugs workforce.* A workforce development resource. Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University.



Skinner, N. (2005). Worker Wellbeing. In N. Skinner, A.M. Roche, J. O'Connor, Y. Pollard, & C. Todd (Eds.), *Workforce development TIPS (Theory Into Practice Strategies): A resource kit for the alcohol and other drugs field.* Adelaide, South Australia: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University.

Available at: www.nceta.flinders.edu.au

INTRODUCTION

Working in the Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) sector can be a very rewarding experience. Key sources of job satisfaction and reward for those working in the AOD sector include the opportunity to help people and the belief in the worth of their work in terms of making a contribution to society.^(1, 2) From this perspective, work in the AOD field can be very engaging and satisfying. On the other hand, there is increasing recognition that workers in the health and human services sector. including the AOD field, often experience high levels of work-related demands or stressors, and are hence particularly vulnerable to stress and burnout.⁽³⁾ Managers in the AOD field are not only exposed to these pressures, but also to those related to their higher level positions and responsibilities.

This study is focused on the health and wellbeing of managers within the AOD workforce. Human services managers, as a distinct occupational group, are often overlooked in workplace health and wellbeing research.⁽⁴⁾ A manager's health and wellbeing may have a significant impact not only on organisational functioning but also on the welfare of their own staff.^(5, 6) Managers are powerful influencers of the culture and norms of any organisation - if they are not satisfied with or are uncommitted to their jobs, these negative feelings may in turn affect their staff's attitude towards their

jobs. In short, although managers are crucial members of an organisation, their experiences and attitudes that relate to their levels of wellbeing have not been adequately examined.

A brief review of past research on occupational wellbeing, with particular attention to research on individuals in managerial / supervisory roles, is presented below. It is structured in terms of indicators (i.e. job satisfaction, organisational commitment, burnout, and turnover intention) and predictors (i.e. workplace factors) of wellbeing.

Indicators of Wellbeing

The concept of wellbeing has broadened considerably from initially being viewed as a primarily affective state, to now including behaviour and motivation.⁽⁷⁾ Van Horn and colleagues (2004) define occupational or workplace wellbeing as "a positive evaluation of various aspects of one's job, including affective, motivational, behavioural, cognitive and psychosomatic dimensions" (p.366). Using this multidimensional model of wellbeing as a basis, work-related attitudes, cognitions, behaviours and psychosocial health indicators can be construed to reflect different aspects of wellbeing in the workplace.

Two key job-related attitudes and a measure of health have been found to be good indicators of occupational wellbeing:

- (1) job satisfaction
- (2) organisational commitment
- (3) (lack of) stress / burnout.⁽⁷⁾

In addition, it is proposed that *turnover intention* or *intention to quit* can be construed as a cognitive dimension of workplace wellbeing. Each of these factors and their relation to wellbeing are discussed below.

Job Satisfaction

Job satisfaction refers to the extent of pleasure or contentment an individual derives from their work.⁽⁸⁾ Job satisfaction is a particularly salient issue for the AOD field. Although there has been some research examining job satisfaction in the AOD workforce, these studies have focused on treatment workers not agency managers. For instance, research from the USA⁽²⁾, the UK⁽⁹⁾, and Canada⁽¹⁰⁾ indicate that most AOD workers report high levels of job satisfaction. The more personal and human aspects of work such as client interactions, commitment to treatment, and personal growth, are often reported as sources of satisfaction.⁽¹⁾ In contrast, factors such as excessive workload, paperwork and other "bureaucratic issues" have been identified by AOD workers as sources of dissatisfaction.(10) It is likely that similar factors influence levels of job satisfaction among AOD managers but this issue has yet to be examined.

Organisational Commitment

Organisational commitment refers to the strength of a worker's attachment to or identification with their organisation.⁽¹¹⁾ The literature search on organisational commitment uncovered one study measuring organisational commitment of workers in the AOD field. Knudsen and associates⁽¹²⁾ found that AOD counsellors were more likely to be committed to their organisation if they felt they were rewarded and supported by their organisation. Given that previous research has found organisational commitment to be a good indicator of worker wellbeing,⁽⁷⁾ an investigation of current levels of commitment among AOD managers, and associations with key organisational and job factors, is important.

Stress / Burnout

Stress is experienced when individuals feel unable to cope with the demands placed upon them.⁽⁹⁾ A related concept is burnout which is a chronic form of strain that develops over time in response to prolonged periods of high stress.^(13, 14) Burnout has long been recognised as an occupational hazard of the human service professions (e.g., doctors, social workers, teachers) which often place prolonged demands on workers' interpersonal and emotional resources.^(3, 13) Three core dimensions of burnout have been identified:

- exhaustion (feeling overextended and drained of emotional and physical resources),
- (2) cynicism / depersonalisation (negative, detached or cynical view of one's work), and
- (3) reduced professional efficacy / personal accomplishment (low sense of achievement, feelings of incompetence, low self efficacy).⁽¹³⁻¹⁷⁾

Burnout has also been linked with a range of negative consequences for workers' health and wellbeing including depression, psychosomatic complaints (e.g., musculoskeletal problems, gastrointestinal complaints) and health problems (e.g., coronary heart disease).^(13, 18, 19) There is also evidence of a link between staff burnout and client outcomes. For instance, a study of mental health treatment teams in the U.S. found that teams characterised by higher levels of burnout were associated with lower levels of patient satisfaction with their treatment and therapist.⁽²⁰⁾

Burnout is a good wellbeing indicator as it measures a set of affective, behavioural and cognitive symptoms that represent long-term physical and emotional strain in the workplace.⁽²¹⁾ Hence, if AOD treatment managers have high levels of burnout, it would mean that their occupational wellbeing has been jeopardised. The literature search did not reveal any studies that have examined burnout in AOD managers. However, Price and Spence (1994) found lower average burnout levels for alcohol and drug workers in New South Wales, when compared to normative data of social service workers in the U.S.⁽²¹⁾

Turnover Intention

Many factors are associated with a worker's decision to stay or leave an organisation, including factors unrelated to work (e.g., migration or illness). Turnover can have both direct and indirect costs to an organisation. Losing effective managers in a field that is already experiencing staff shortages could prove detrimental to the quality and availability of treatment workers and services. It is therefore crucial to examine factors that could lead to managers leaving their organisation or the AOD field altogether, particularly if these factors pertain to conditions of the workplace.

The few international studies that have examined turnover within the AOD workforce have identified a variety of potential contributory factors. For example, Gallon and colleagues found rates of turnover were associated with levels of public funding and the agency directors' years of experience in the AOD field.⁽¹⁾ Agencies who received less public funding and had less experienced directors were more likely to report higher levels of turnover. Turnover intention has been identified as having the highest predictive power of actual turnover⁽²²⁾ and is the most reliable indicator after measuring actual turnover. Thus, it is important to understand the factors affecting turnover intentions in order to understand actual turnover rates and patterns.⁽¹²⁾ In addition, intention to turnover can also be a good gauge of occupational wellbeing.

If an individual is unhappy with their working conditions, they are more likely to form intentions to switch jobs whereas an individual who is happy with their work environment would have fewer reasons to search for another job elsewhere. Knudsen, Johnson and Roman found low levels of organisational commitment, low levels of job autonomy, and low salary were associated with AOD workers' increased turnover intentions.⁽¹²⁾ More recently, Knudsen and colleagues identified that centralised decision making processes and levels of workplace procedural and distributive iustice were also significant predictors of turnover intentions for AOD workers employed in therapeutic communities.(23)

Predictors of Workplace Wellbeing

There is wide acknowledgement of the importance of the organisational and job context in determining worker health and wellbeing in models and theories of healthy work organisations.^(11, 24) Empirical studies have established significant associations between work characteristics and occupational wellbeing indicators.^(11, 16, 22, 25)

Research has also shown that factors indicative of wellbeing (e.g., stress/ burnout, job satisfaction, organisational commitment, turnover intention) are inter-related. For example, individuals who are stressed or exhausted from work can gradually become dissatisfied with their jobs which can also then lead them to look for other jobs. A meta-analysis by Barak and colleagues found that human service workers are more likely to think about leaving their jobs if they lacked organisational commitment, felt dissatisfied with their iobs, and experienced chronic stress but insufficient social support.(26)

Workers who are less satisfied with their jobs may also be more susceptible to stress or burnout. Many of the same workplace conditions which are considered as 'stressors' have also been shown to influence job satisfaction, commitment and turnover intention.⁽¹⁶⁾ These workplace factors include workload, job autonomy, social support, perceived reciprocity, role clarity, adequacy of remuneration, knowledge of performance, rewards for performance, perceived managerial competency, and organisational support.^(11, 16, 27)

Rationale

Despite their critical role in organisations, only a small number of studies have investigated the health and wellbeing of managers in the human services sector.^(4, 28-34) For instance, of the 61 studies in a metaanalysis by Lee and Ashforth⁽¹⁶⁾ only approximately 20% sampled human services managers or supervisors.

The unique pressures faced by AOD managers in dealing with clients, staff and organisational demands highlight the need for targeted research to further our understanding of the dynamics of health and wellbeing in this important occupational group. To address this issue NCETA undertook a national survey to examine the relationship between workplace factors and the wellbeing of managers of AOD treatment organisations in Australia.

METHODOLOGY

Sampling Frame

The sampling frame of specialist Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) treatment services for this study was based on the 2001 version of the Clients of Treatment Service Agencies (COTSA) database.⁽³⁵⁾ In the COTSA database, a drug and alcohol treatment service is defined as an agency that provides one or more face-to-face specialist treatment services to people with alcohol and / or other drug problems.⁽³⁶⁾ It includes a variety of outpatient treatment services, inpatient rehabilitation programs, detoxification, therapeutic communities, methadone maintenance plus an additional service, and smoking cessation programs. However, the definition excludes self-help groups, sobering-up centres, and services that only provide information, education, accommodation, brief counselling and crisis interventions.(35)

This database was used to form the sampling frame for the survey of managers of specialist drug and alcohol treatment service agencies. The sample included government, non-government, and private specialist AOD agencies from various locations throughout the country. The survey instrument was distributed by mail. It included a return self-addressed envelope together with a letter of invitation to participate in the study.

Ethics Approval

Ethics approval for the project was obtained in August 2005 from Flinders University's Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee.

Survey Instrument

A purpose-designed survey instrument was developed to examine issues pertinent to the wellbeing of managers of AOD agencies. The questionnaire assessed the working conditions of managers, their attitudes towards their work, their levels of burnout and some basic demographics. It contained a total of 65 items and took approximately 15 minutes to complete. A copy of the survey is provided in Appendix I.

Measures

Working conditions

Respondents' perceptions of various aspects of their working conditions were addressed by 46 items under the following sub-sections.

Challenges of managing an AOD organisation

Participants were asked whether there were issues that create pressure for them at work. If participants responded in the affirmative (i.e., "Yes") to this question they were requested to complete an 11-item scale addressing the challenges of managing an AOD organisation (e.g., "staff shortages") adapted from Farmer et al.'s⁽⁹⁾ Addiction Employee's Stress Scale. This scale requires respondents to rank the top three items that create pressure for them in order of importance (1 = most important, 3 = least important).

Management roles and responsibilities

This section included the following three scales designed to assess workload, level of job autonomy and nature of the job role (i.e., role ambiguity and role conflict). Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each scale item were summed to provide a total score for each scale.

Workload

Cammann et al.'s⁽³⁷⁾ 3-item scale was used to measure perceptions of workload (e.g., *"I have too much work to do everything well"*).

Job autonomy

Three items from Karasek's Job Control scale⁽³⁸⁾ were used to address perceptions of the extent to which participants make work decisions autonomously (e.g., "My job allows me to make a lot of decisions on my own about how my service operates"). A single item developed by the research team also addressed opportunities for input into organisational decision-making (i.e., *"I have opportunities to contribute to the development of organisational policies and procedures"*).

Role ambiguity

A 2-item scale from Cammann et al.⁽³⁷⁾ measured participants' uncertainty regarding their roles and responsibilities (e.g., *"Most of the time I know what I have to do in my job"*).

Role conflict

This section addressed perceived conflict between clinical and administrative responsibilities. An initial filter question ascertained whether participants had both clinical and administrative responsibilities in their current position, and if so, participants were presented with a 2-item scale developed by the research team that assessed conflict between clinical and administrative roles (e.g., *"I experience conflict between my clinical and administrative roles"*).

Relations with professional colleagues

This section included the following three scales that assessed relationships respondents had with work colleagues and staff. Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each scale item were summed to provide a total score for each scale.

Workplace support

A specifically designed 3-item scale assessed perceptions of support from staff, colleagues and senior management (e.g., *"My staff provide me with good support for my work as a manager"*).

Lack of perceived reciprocity

Developed from Schaufeli et al.'s scale,⁽³⁹⁾ three items were used to measure respondents' perception of the degree to which a fair balance existed between the amount of effort they invest in their work and the benefits and appreciation they receive in return (e.g., *"I invest more in the relationship with my staff than I receive in return"*).

Challenges of managing a diverse workforce

Difficulties encountered in managing employees from diverse professional backgrounds were addressed by 1 item developed by the research team (i.e., *"Managing staff from different professional backgrounds creates difficulties for me"*).

Recognition and rewards

This section included the following three scales that assessed reward, recognition and feedback on respondents' work performance. Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each scale item were summed to provide a total score for each scale.

Adequacy of remuneration

Two items developed from Cammann et al.'s⁽³⁷⁾ Pay Attitude scale were used to measure perception of financial reward (e.g., *"I am very satisfied with my pay"*).

Knowledge of performance

Cammann et al.'s ⁽³⁷⁾ 2-item Knowledge of Results scale was used to assess the adequacy of performance feedback (e.g., *"I* seldom know whether I'm doing my job well or poorly").

Rewards for performance

Three items assessed the importance of, and opportunities for, financial and non-financial rewards and recognition (e.g., *"If I perform well I am likely to get a bonus or pay increase"*). These items were developed from Cammann et al.'s⁽³⁷⁾ 2-item Extrinsic Reward Good Performance Contingency scale.

Physical work environment

Two items measuring participants' perceptions of their working environment as a safe and pleasant workplace (e.g., *"I work in a safe working environment"*) were used to assess managers' physical work environment. Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each scale item were summed to provide a total physical work environment score.

Professional development

This section assessed respondents' professional development opportunities. Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each scale item were summed to provide a total score for each scale.

Perceived management competency

Two items from Cammann et al.'s⁽³⁷⁾ Training Adequacy scale were used to measure participants' perceived competence in their professional skills and abilities as a manager (e.g., *"I have all the management skills I need in order to do my job"*).

Support for professional development

A single item developed from Addy et al.⁽⁴⁰⁾ addressed support for professional development opportunities (i.e., *"I have sufficient support from my Board/ Senior Management to access management training"*).

Organisational support

This section assessed organisational support for agency managers. Seven specifically developed items were used to measure the perceived level of guidance, support and supervision from senior managers, organisational practices (such as mentoring) and the availability of flexible working conditions that facilitate an appropriate balance between work and personal life (e.g., "My organisation provides formal supervision that helps me in *my role as a manager"*). Responses for each item ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores for each item were added to give a total organisational support score.

Wellbeing indicators

This section comprised three subsections that assessed managers' attitudes towards work (i.e., job satisfaction, organisational commitment), dimensions of burnout, and turnover intention. For each item, participants indicated their level of agreement on a five-point response scale. Item responses ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The score for each scale item was tallied to give a total score for each scale.

Job attitudes

Participants' attitudes towards various aspects of their work were addressed by five items. This section included the following two subscales:

Job satisfaction

A short 3-item scale developed by Price & Mueller⁽⁴¹⁾ measured participants' job satisfaction (e.g., *"I find real enjoyment in my job"*).

Organisational commitment

Two items from Cook & Wall's⁽⁴²⁾ Organisational Identification subscale measured participants' affinity to their organisation (e.g., *"I am proud to tell people I work for this organisation"*).

Burnout

The Maslach Burnout Inventory -General Survey (MBI-GS)⁽⁴³⁾ was used to assess participants' level of burnout.¹ Similar to the standard MBI, the 16-item MBI General Survey consists of three subscales addressing the dimensions of burnout: Exhaustion (5 items), Cynicism (5 items) and Professional Efficacy (6 items). However, these dimensions are defined in relation to the job in general and not just in terms of relationships on the job.⁽¹³⁾ Exhaustion items reflect physical and emotional fatigue (i.e., symptoms of stress) due to factors other than clients (e.g., "I feel emotionally drained from my work"). Cynicism items reflect a cognitive distancing from the individual's work (e.g., "I have become less interested in my work since I started this job"). The Professional Efficacy dimension reflects the individual's satisfaction with accomplishments and expectations of effectiveness at work (e.g., "I can effectively solve the problems that arise in my work"). The three subscales of the MBI-GS present a three-dimensional perspective on burnout. High scores on the exhaustion subscale and high scores on the cynicism subscale or low scores on the professional efficacy subscale are indicative of burnout.

Turnover intention

A 4-item scale developed by O'Driscoll & Beehr⁽⁴⁴⁾ addressed participants' intention to leave their current position (e.g., *"I have thought about leaving my job"*). The final item in this scale was adapted to refer specifically to the AOD field (i.e., *"I intend to search for a new job outside the AOD field"*). A single item developed by the research team was also included to measure the extent to which participants planned to change jobs as a career development strategy (i.e., *"Changing jobs every few years is a positive strategy to develop a career in management"*).

¹ The MBI-GS was chosen as some managers may not have direct contact with clients or carry a client load, therefore many of the items from the standard MBI that refer to clients may not have been relevant to a significant proportion of the current sample.

Demographics

Demographic information collected included the type of organisation in which participants worked (e.g., government, non-government, private); how long participants had been working (1) for the organisation, (2) in the AOD field, and (3) as managers in the AOD field; the state / territory and geographical location of the workplace (e.g., urban, rural); participants' current working arrangements (e.g., permanent / casual, full / part time); participants' professional background (e.g., nursing, psychology, social work); highest formal qualification; and AOD qualifications.

Procedure

Survey packages containing the study questionnaire, an introductory letter, and stamped return envelope were sent to the manager of each eligible agency listed on the COTSA database (n = 442) in September 2005. Treatment agencies included government and nongovernment organisations in urban and rural areas in each state. To ensure that an acceptable response rate was achieved a follow-up survey package was sent to half the original sample (n =221) in November 2005. A further invitation to participate in the survey was provided via email through the Alcohol and other Drugs Council of Australia (ADCA) national listserve - UPDATE. A follow-up email was also posted on ADCA update in December 2005.

Analyses

Data obtained by the survey were analysed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software. Descriptive statistics were used to summarise key responses and demographic characteristics of the sample. Correlational analyses were performed as a preliminary measure to examine the inter-relationships between workplace factors / conditions, and wellbeing indicators. Multivariate statistics were used to examine the predictors of managers' wellbeing, i.e. which organisational and job factors were influencing levels of job satisfaction, organisational commitment, burnout and turnover intention.

RESULTS

Respondents' Demographics

A total of 280 surveys were returned at the cut-off date (23rd December 2005) generating a response rate of 63%. Respondents (N = 280) were 47 years of age on average (SD = 8.3; range 27-67 years) and 61% were women and 39% were men. Respondents came from a range of professional backgrounds including AOD workers, nurses, psychologists, and social workers. The majority of managers worked in non-government agencies (53%), and 40% of managers were from the government sector and 7% were private-sector managers.

Gender

There was no significant difference between the average age of male (47 years) and female (46 years) managers.

The proportion of male and female managers was similar² across AOD government, non-government agencies, and private organisations (see Figure 1). The proportions of male and female managers employed in metropolitan and non-metropolitan agencies were also similar.³ For metropolitan agencies, 37% (n = 44) of managers were male and 63% (n = 74) were female. For agencies located in non-metropolitan areas, 41% (n = 43) and 59% (n = 63) were male and female respectively.



Figure1: Proportion of male and female AOD managers across organisational sectors

² There was no statistical difference between gender proportions across organisational type.

³ There was no statistical difference between gender proportions across geographic locations.

Age

Figure 2 shows the age breakdown of respondents in the sample. Nearly two-thirds of respondents (63%) were 45 years and over. There were no significant age differences across government, non-government and private sector AOD agencies.



Figure 2: Proportion of AOD managers by age group (n = 267)

Length of service

The median⁴ length of time respondents had worked in their current organisation was 5.5 years (n = 273, range <1-44 years). The median length of service in the AOD field was 9 years (n = 269, range <1-35 years). On average,⁵ respondents had 4 years of experience as an AOD manager (n = 267, range <1-35 years). Figure 3 depicts the length of service of respondents in the field, in their current organisation and as an AOD manager. Over a third of respondents (37%) had worked in the field for more than 10 years. Another 51% had been employed in their current organisation for about 5 years or less. More than half the respondents (54%) had between one and five years managerial experience.



Figure 3: Proportion of respondents by length of service in the AOD field, current organisation, and as an AOD manager

⁴ Due to wide variability in scores, the median was used as the most appropriate measure of average length of service. The median is the mid-point where 50% of the scores fall below and above it.

⁵ The median is reported as average length of service.

There were no significant differences in the average length of service in the field, or length of service as an AOD manager, across professions (i.e., nurses, AOD workers, psychologists, social workers and doctors). However, nurses had significantly more years of experience (M = 9.9, SD = 8.2) in their current organisation compared to social workers (M = 4.9, SD = 5.2; p < .01) (see Table 1).

There was a significant difference between length of service in the AOD field and whether or not respondents had undertaken AOD tertiary training. Respondents who had completed an AOD-related tertiary course (M = 11.6, SD = 6.6) had significantly more years of service in the field compared to those who had not completed AODrelated tertiary courses (M = 9.2, SD = 7.2; p < .01). Finally, age was positively correlated with length of service in the current organisation (r = .33; p < .01), in the AOD field (r = .38; p < .01), and as an AOD manager (r = .35; p < .01).

Profession and qualifications

The greatest proportion of respondents were nurses, who comprised more than a third of respondents (n = 98; 36%), followed by AOD workers (n = 61; 22%) (Figure 4). There were no significant gender differences across professions.



Figure 4: Proportion of respondents by profession (n = 275)

Length of service	A	OD fiel	d		Current ganisat		As A	DD mai	nager
Profession	М	SD	n	М	SD	n	М	SD	n
Nurse	11.6	7.5	97	9.9*	8.2	96	5.5	4.5	95
AOD worker	11.3	6.1	54	7.3	4.9	54	5.9	6.0	53
Psychologist	10.8	6.5	36	6.6	6.8	36	5.2	4.3	36
Social worker	7.9	5.9	26	4.9*	5.2	27	3.7	4.6	25
Doctor	10.2	7.0	4	9.6	7.1	5	8.7	7.9	4

Table 1: Mean length of service and standard deviations across professions

Note: n = number of respondents; * p < .01





Table 2: Proportion of respondents by work status

Work status	Frequency	%
Permanent	235	85
Contract	37	13
Casual	2	1
Other	4	1
Total	278	100
Full-time	261	94
Part-time	17	6
Total	278	100

Figure 5 shows the composition of professions⁶ across the different organisational sectors. As can be seen, the majority of managers in non-government (NGO) agencies were AOD workers whereas the majority of managers in government and private agencies had nursing backgrounds.

Eighty-five percent of respondents reported that they were in permanent employment and more than 90% of respondents were in full-time jobs (Table 2).

More than three-quarters of respondents had obtained a university qualification, and a further 13% had a TAFE qualification (Table 3).

Respondents in the nursing profession had varied qualifications ranging from hospital-based training (included in the 'Other' category in Figure 6) to PhD qualifications. Most respondents with AOD-specific backgrounds held a TAFE or undergraduate qualification. More than half the respondents who had a psychology background possessed a Master's qualification.

Highest Qualifications	Frequency	%
High school	18	7
TAFE	35	13
Undergraduate / Honours degree	113	41
Other postgraduate qualification (postgrad. cert. / postgrad. diploma)	29	10
Masters	68	24
PhD	4	1
Other	11	4
TOTAL	278	100

Table 3: Proportion of respondents by highest qualifications completed

 $^{\rm 6}$ Only professions with n > 10 are included in the analysis.



Figure 6: Proportion of respondents by profession and highest qualification completed

 PhD Masters Other postgrad. course 	Undergrad/ Hons TAFE	High schoolOther
--	----------------------------	---

Table 4: Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-related training courses or qualifications

AOD Training / Qualifications	Frequency*
Non-accredited training	171
Accredited short courses	157
TAFE training	82
Undergraduate program	57
Postgraduate program	52
Other	10

Note: * Respondents could select more than one category

AOD-specific qualifications / training

As outlined in Table 4, the type of AODrelated training courses that were most frequently undertaken by respondents were non-accredited and accredited short courses.

There were no significant differences across professions in terms of the proportion of managers who had attended non-accredited and accredited training (Table 5).⁷ At least half of each professional group had attended non-accredited courses (including in-service training) and accredited short courses.

Significant differences were found for AOD tertiary qualifications by profession. Four out of five managers with AOD-generalist backgrounds (80%) had completed tertiary training (mainly TAFE), while less than half the respondents in the nursing and social work professions had done so.

Organisation	AOD Worker (%)	Nurse (%)	Psych. (%)	Social Worker (%)
Course	(70)	(70)	(70)	(/0)
Non-accredited training	71	58	56	67
Accredited short courses	69	56	50	52
Tertiary training	80*	49*	56	41*

Table 5: Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-specific training by occupation

Note: Psych. – Psychologist

* p < .001

⁷ Doctors and counsellors were not included in this analysis due to low numbers, and the 'other' category was excluded as it represented small numbers of different professions.

Table 6 details the proportion of respondents who had undertaken non-accredited, accredited, and tertiary AOD specific courses across organisational sectors. No significant differences were found.

Location

Figure 7 illustrates the distribution of respondents across states and territories (n = 273). More than a third of respondents were from New South Wales. The distribution of agencies across states and territories in the sample was consistent with that in the COTSA database. There were no significant differences with regard to the work locale of respondents (i.e. state / territory, and urban / rural areas) across states and territories.

Half the respondents worked in urban treatment agencies and a quarter of respondents were located in rural and remote areas (Table 7).

Across government, non-government, and private sectors, most managers worked in urban agencies (Figure 8). There was approximately a 50-50 split of managers working in metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas for both government and non-governmental agencies. However, less than one-third of private AOD services were located in regional and rural areas.

Table 6: Proportion of respondents who had completed AOD-specific training by organisational sector

Organisation Course	Govt. (%)	Non-govt. (%)	Private (%)
Non-accredited short courses	57	67	50
Accredited short courses	58	57	39
Tertiary training	50	57	44

Note: Analysis does not include respondents who worked for multiple sectors or whose agency was funded from multiple sources.



Table 7: Proportion of respondents by geographic location

Geographic Location	Frequency	%
Urban	131	50
Regional	61	22
Rural and remote	68	25
Other	10	3
TOTAL	277	100

The next section presents the results for the work factors measured in the survey, followed by the indicators of wellbeing (i.e., job satisfaction, organisational commitment, burnout dimensions, and turnover intention).⁸





Working Conditions

Management challenges

The majority of respondents (97%) indicated that they experienced workrelated challenges that created pressure for them as managers. Table 8 details the issues that respondents identified as creating most pressure. Staff shortages were most frequently ranked as the main factor that created pressure for managers.

Work Issues	Frequency	%
Staff shortages	70	32
Having too little time to do what is expected of me	25	12
Conflicting demands between different job roles	22	10
Shortage of essential resources	17	8
Decisions or changes which affect me are made from 'above' without my acknowledgement or involvement	13	6
Conflicting demands on my time at work by others	12	5
Organisational change	10	5
Uncertainty about future funding	9	4
Trivial tasks that interfere with my job role	9	4
Deciding task priorities	8	4
Staff management issues	6	3
Having to attend too many meetings	4	2
Other miscellaneous issues	10	5
TOTAL	215	100

Table 8: Responses regarding work issues that create the most pressure

⁸ The correlations between workplace factors and wellbeing indicators can be found in Appendix II.

Management roles and responsibilities

Workload

The workload scale contained statements regarding the amount of work required in a managerial role (Table 9).9 Nearly a third of respondents (31%) thought that the amount of work they were asked to do was unfair. Over half (54%) felt that they had too much work to do everything well. The majority of respondents (67%) also felt that there was not enough time to get everything done. Respondents' total scores for workload ranged from 4 to 15 (maximum possible score 15) with a mean score of 10 (SD = 2.5). There were no significant differences between demographic factors and total workload score.

Job autonomy

The job autonomy scale comprised statements concerning the degree of decision making latitude respondents had at their workplace (Table 10).¹⁰ Respondents' total job autonomy scores ranged from 8 to 20 (maximum possible score 20) with a mean score of 15.9 (SD = 2.8), indicating that the majority of respondents had a relatively high degree of freedom to make decisions about the way in which their service operates and to contribute to the development of organisational policies and procedures (Table 10).

Job autonomy was positively associated with length of service as an AOD manager (r = .14; p < .05). Respondents with more years of experience as an AOD manager reported higher levels of job autonomy.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I have too much work to do everything well	2	21	23	39	15	276
I never seem to have enough time to get everything done	1	14	18	51	16	277
The amount of work I am asked to do is fair	3	28	30	36	3	277

Table 9: Responses to items in the Workload Scale

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

⁹ The workload scale had high reliability (α = .80) and each item had strong factorial loadings for the scale. An item that was positively worded was reverse scored.

 $^{^{10}}$ The job autonomy scale had high reliability (α = .84) and each item had strong factorial loadings for the scale. An item that was negatively worded was reverse scored.

Managers in government agencies (M = 15, SD = 2.9) reported less job autonomy than those in nongovernment agencies (M = 16.5, SD = 2.5; p < .001). There were no significant differences between other demographic variables and job autonomy.

Role ambiguity

The role ambiguity scale measured respondents' perceived degree of uncertainty concerning their work role as a manager.¹¹ Respondents' total scores ranged from 2 to 8 (maximum possible score 10) with a mean score of 4.2 (SD = 4.0). As can be seen from Table 11, most managers had a high level of certainty regarding their job role and expectations of them.

Length of service in the field and length of service as an AOD manager were negatively associated with the degree of role ambiguity one perceived in regard to their job. Respondents with more years of experience in the AOD field, and as a manager, had a higher degree of certainty in their work role and responsibilities.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
My job allows me to make a lot of decisions about how my service operates	0	12	12	52	24	277
I have a lot to say about what happens in the service that I manage	1	7	14	51	27	276
I have opportunities to contribute to the development of organisational policies and procedures	0	8	8	54	30	277
In my job I have very little freedom to decide how I run my service	25	56	11	8	0	277

Table 10: Responses to items in the Job Autonomy Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

Table 11: Responses to items in the Role Ambiguity Scale

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)		SA (%)	n
Most of the time I know what I have to do in my job	0	2	6	71	21	277
In my job I know exactly what is expected of me	0	12	19	56	13	277

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

¹¹ The role ambiguity scale had moderate reliability (α = .62) and each item had moderate factorial loadings for the scale. Both items were reverse scored so that higher scores reflected higher role ambiguity.

There were significant differences in mean scores for role ambiguity between managers in government and private agencies. Government sector managers (M = 4.4, SD = 1.2) had high levels of role ambiguity compared to private sector managers (M = 3.4, SD = 1.2, p < .01). There were no other significant differences between role ambiguity and demographic variables.

Role conflict

This scale measured perceived conflict between administrative and clinical roles of AOD managers.¹² More than three quarters of respondents (77%) had both clinical and administrative roles in their current position.

Scores for role conflict ranged from 2 to 10 (maximum possible score 10) and the mean score was 7.2 (SD = 1.9). Most managers agreed that there was conflict between their clinical and administrative roles (Table 12). There was a negative correlation between age and role conflict (r = -.14, p < .05), indicating that younger respondents perceived a higher degree of conflict between their clinical and administrative roles. Managers from government treatment services (M = 7.7, SD = 1.7) had significantly higher role conflict than managers from non-government treatment services (M = 6.8, SD = 1.8; p < .01). No other significant differences were found.

Relations with professional colleagues

Workplace support

This scale measured the extent of support received from staff, colleagues and senior management.¹³ The total

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
My clinical and administrative roles involve conflicting priorities	2	21	14	49	14	213
Administrative responsibilities reduce my capacity to operate effectively in a clinical role	1	18	17	43	21	211

Table 12: Responses to items in the Role Conflict Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

¹² The role conflict scale had moderate reliability (α = .62) and each item had moderate factorial loadings for the scale.

 $^{^{13}}$ The workplace support scale had low reliability (α = .51) and two items had moderate factorial loadings on the scale.

scores for workplace support ranged from 5 to 15 (maximum possible score 15) and the mean score was 11 (SD = 1.9). Most respondents perceived that their colleagues, staff and upper management were supportive of their work role. However, one in five respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed that they were provided with positive support from senior management (Table 13).

There was a positive correlation between workplace support and length of service as an AOD manager (r = .15, p < .01) and between workplace support and length of service in the field (r = .13, p< .05). Respondents with more years of service as a manager and those with more years of service in the field reported higher levels of workplace support. There was also a significant difference between those who had high school qualifications and those who had a Masters qualification. Respondents with high school qualifications reported more support (M = 12.1, SD = 1.7) compared to those with Masters qualifications (M = 10.5, SD = 2.1; p < .05). No other significant differences were found.

Lack of perceived reciprocity

This scale measured respondents' perceptions regarding the degree to which the amount of effort invested in their work was reciprocated by their staff and organisation.¹⁴ The mean score for this scale was 9 (SD = 2.0) and total scores ranged from 3 to 15 (maximum possible score 15).¹⁵ More than a third (36%) of respondents believed that they invest more in their relations with staff than they receive in return. Nearly half (46%) agreed that

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
My staff provide me with good support for my work as a manager	2	9	17	53	19	276
My professional colleagues provide me with good support for my work as a manager	0	7	20	58	15	277
My Board or Senior Management provide me with good support for my work as a manager	2	19	23	44	12	277

Table 13: Responses to items in the Workplace Support Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

 $^{^{14}}$ The perceptions of reciprocity scale had low reliability (α = .48) and the first item had a weak factorial loading on the scale.

¹⁵ A higher score reflects lower levels of reciprocity.
the organisation should provide them with more rewards and benefits, given the respondent's work contribution (Table 14).

Managers from government agencies (M = 9.5, SD = 2.0) had significantly less perceived reciprocity compared to managers from non-government agencies (M = 8.7, SD = 2.0; p < .01). There were no other significant differences observed.

Challenges of managing a diverse workforce

One item was used in this section to examine the difficulties encountered in managing a workforce from diverse professional backgrounds. More than one in four managers agreed or strongly agreed that there were difficulties in managing a varied workforce (Table 15).

Respondents with more years of service in the AOD field (r = -.21; p <.01) and more years of service as a manager (r = -.19; p < .01) reported fewer perceived difficulties in managing a diverse workforce. No other significant demographic differences were observed.

Table 14: Responses to items in the Lack of Perceived Reciprocity Scale

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I invest more in the relationship with my staff than I receive in return	3	31	30	30	6	277
I benefit little from the efforts I put into the organisation	9	44	23	20	4	277
If I take into account my contribution, the organisation ought to provide me with more rewards and benefits	2	17	35	37	9	276

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

Table 15: Responses regarding the challenges of managing a diverse workforce

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)		SA (%)	n
Managing staff from different professional backgrounds creates difficulties for me	9	39	25	21	6	276

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

Recognition and rewards

Adequacy of remuneration

This scale measured the perceived adequacy of respondents' remuneration.¹⁶ Total scores for the scale ranged from 2 to 10 (maximum score 10) with a mean total score of 5.6 (SD = 2.0). Forty-three percent of respondents indicated that they were not satisfied with their pay and nearly half (47%) considered their pay unfair compared to what other managers were getting paid (Table 16).

Significant differences were found for perception of remuneration adequacy between managers from private agencies (M = 7.1, SD = 1.6) and managers from government (M = 5.9, SD = 1.9) and non-government agencies (M = 5.3, SD = 1.9).

Managers from private organisations were the most satisfied with their pay compared to managers from government and non-government agencies (p < .001): 61% of managers from private agencies indicated satisfaction with their pay compared to 36% of government managers and 23% of non-government managers.

There was also a significant difference between respondents with Masters qualifications (M = 4.7, SD = 2.1) compared to those with TAFE qualifications (M = 6.0, SD = 1.9; p <.05). Forty-two percent of respondents with a Masters degree considered their pay to be fair compared to only 14% of TAFE-qualified respondents. No other significant differences were found for adequacy of remuneration.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)		n				
I am very satisfied with my pay	11	32	26	27	4	278				
My pay is fair considering what other managers in health and human services are paid	12	35	18	32	3	278				

Table 16: Responses to items in the Adequacy of Remuneration Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

¹⁶ The adequacy of remuneration scale had high reliability (α = .80) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

Knowledge of performance

This scale measured the level of knowledge respondents had about their work performance.¹⁷ The total scores ranged from 2 to 10 (maximum possible score 10) and the mean score was 7.0 (SD = 1.7).¹⁸ Approximately two-thirds of respondents indicated that they knew how well or poorly they were doing their jobs. However, one in five respondents indicated that they were unsure of the adequacy of their performance (see Table 17).

Knowledge of performance was negatively correlated with length of service in current organisation. Those respondents with shorter lengths of service in their work organisation reported better knowledge of their work performance (r = -.10, p < .05). There were no significant differences for other demographic variables.

Rewards for performance

This scale examined the opportunities for financial and non-financial rewards for good work performance.¹⁹ The total scores for the non-financial rewards subscale ranged from 2 to 10 (maximum possible score 10) with a mean total score of 6.0 (SD = 1.9). The total scores for the financial rewards subscale ranged from 1 to 5 (M = 1.7, SD = 0.9). As can be seen in Table 18, while 36-44% of respondents agreed that they were likely to receive recognition and opportunities to develop their own ideas, the majority of respondents (88%) disagreed that a good performance resulted in a bonus or pay increase.

There were no significant differences for the non-financial rewards scale. However, significant differences in perceptions of financial rewards were

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I seldom know whether I'm doing my job well or poorly	6	51	22	20	1	277
I usually don't know whether or not my work is satisfactory in this job	8	59	15	17	1	277

Table 17: Responses to items in the Knowledge of Performance Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

¹⁸ Both items were reverse scored so that a higher score reflects more knowledge of performance.

 19 The rewards for performance scale as a whole had moderate reliability (α = .65) and the items had moderate factorial loadings on the scale.

 $^{^{17}}$ The knowledge of performance scale had high reliability (α = .85) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

found between managers in the private sector (M = 2.3, SD = 1.3) compared to those in the government (M= 1.5, SD = 0.8) and non-government (M = 1.7, SD = 0.9) sectors (p < .01). Proportionally more managers from private agencies (17%), than those in government and non-government organisations (4-5%), agreed that they were likely to receive a financial reward if they performed well at work.

A significant difference in perceived financial rewards was also evident between respondents who had completed an AOD-specific tertiary course (M = 1.8, SD = 1.0) and those who had not (M = 1.5, SD = 0.6; p <.01). Only 1% of those who had not completed an AOD-specific tertiary program agreed that they were likely to be financially rewarded for a good performance compared to the 9% of AOD-specific tertiary-trained respondents.

There was a positive association between perceived financial rewards and length of service as a manager (r = .31, p < .01), length of service in the AOD field (r = .22, p < .01), and age (r = .12, p < .05). Those who were older, had more years of experience as an AOD manager, and worked for a longer time in the field, reported more financial rewards. However, there was a negative correlation between length of service in current organisation and perceived non-financial rewards, indicating that respondents who had worked for a shorter period in their current organisation reported higher recognition for good performance (r = -.15, p < .01).

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
Non-financial rewards If I perform well, I am likely to receive praise and recognition from my Board / Senior Management	8	27	21	39	5	278
If I perform well, I am likely to get opportunities to develop my own projects / strategies	13	25	26	30	6	277
Financial rewards If I perform well, I am likely to get a bonus or pay increase	54	34	7	3	2	278

Table 18: Responses to items in the Rewards for Performance Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

Physical work environment

Total physical work environment scores ranged from 2 to 10 (maximum possible score 10), with a mean score of 7.5 (SD = 1.7).²⁰ As indicated in Table 19, most respondents agreed or strongly agreed that they worked in a safe and pleasant environment.

There was a significant difference in responses of managers from nongovernment agencies (M = 7.8, SD = 1.5) and those from government agencies (M = 7.2, SD = 1.7; p < .01). A larger proportion of managers from government agencies disagreed that their physical work environment was safe and pleasant compared to managers from non-government agencies.

In addition, 20% of respondents with nursing backgrounds (M = 7.1, SD = 1.8) perceived their physical work environment to be less than pleasant compared to 4% of respondents who were in AOD-generalist professions (M = 8.1, SD = 1.3; p < .001). There were no other significant differences among the demographic factors.

Professional development

Perceived management competency

This scale measured respondents' beliefs about their capabilities as a manager.²¹ Total scores ranged from 2 to 10 (M = 6.1, SD = 1.9). A substantial proportion of respondents (41%) reported that they did not have sufficient management skills and training to perform their jobs satisfactorily (Table 20).

Those with PhD qualifications (M = 3.8, SD = 0.5) indicated that they had significantly less training and skills in management compared to those with other qualifications (M = 6.2, SD = 1.8;

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I work in a safe working environment	4	8	13	59	16	277
I work in a pleasant working environment	4	9	14	55	18	277

Table 19: Responses to items in the Physical Work Environment Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

²⁰ The physical work environment scale had high reliability (α = .70) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

²¹ The management competency scale had high reliability ($\alpha = .74$) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale. An item that was negatively worded was reverse scored.

p < .01). For example, all respondents with PhD qualifications agreed or strongly agreed that they did not have sufficient management training to perform their jobs to their satisfaction, whereas 30-40% of respondents with other qualifications agreed with this statement.

Management competency was positively associated with length of service as an AOD manager (r = .26, p< .01), age (r = .24, p < .01), and length of service in the field (r = .19, p < .01). Those with more years of experience as a manager and those with more years of work experience in the AOD field reported higher levels of management skills and training. No other significant differences were observed.

Support for professional development

One item was included to examine the level of support provided to attend professional development courses. Scores for this item ranged from 1 to 5 with a mean score of 3.3 (SD = 1.0). Over half the respondents agreed that they had sufficient support from upper management to access management training (Table 21). There was a positive correlation between length of service as a manager and the level of support for professional development (r = .18, p < .01).

Respondents with secondary school qualifications (M = 4.1, SD = 0.7) were significantly more likely to receive support for professional development

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I do not have enough management training to do my job to my satisfaction	9	38	15	33	5	277
I have all the management skills I need in order to do my job	3	41	22	29	5	277

Table 20: Responses to items in the Perceived Management Competency Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

Table 21: Responses regarding support for professional development

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I have sufficient support from my Board / Senior Management to access management training	3	19	26	46	6	276

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

compared to respondents with tertiary qualifications (excluding those with Masters and PhD qualifications; M = 3.2, SD = 0.9; p < .01). No other significant differences were observed.

Organisational support

Total scores for organisational support ranged from 7 to 35 (maximum possible score 35) and the mean score was 23.1 (SD = 4.8).²² Nearly half (43%) the respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed that their organisation provided them with formal supervision or access to a mentor to guide and support them in their managerial roles (Table 22). However, 88% of respondents were in agreement that informal support was accessible when required. One in five respondents disagreed that formal mechanisms for critical incident debriefing existed (23%) and that upper management responded in an enabling way (26%). About half the respondents indicated that there were adequate management guidelines (53%) and flexible working conditions (56%) in their workplace. No significant demographic differences were observed for organisational support scores.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
My organisation provides formal supervision that help me in my role as manager	12	31	10	37	10	270
There are formal mechanisms in my organisation to help me debrief after a critical incident	5	18	7	53	17	275
I am able to readily access informal support within my organisation when I feel the need	2	7	9	60	22	276
My Board of Management / Advisory Panel responds in an enabling way when I raise pressing issues	5	21	28	39	7	270
I have access to a mentor to help me in my role as a manager	9	34	12	36	9	267
There are adequate guidelines within my organisation to help me in my role as a manager	2	23	22	45	8	273
My organisation has flexible working conditions designed to help me achieve a balance between work and my personal life	7	21	16	40	16	276

Table 22: Responses to items in the Organisational Support Scale

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

²² The organisational support scale had moderate reliability ($\alpha = .69$) and the items had moderate factorial loadings on the scale.

Job Attitudes

Job satisfaction

The Job Satisfaction Scale measured the degree of fulfilment respondents receive from their jobs.²³ Respondents' scores ranged from 4 to 15 (maximum possible score of 15) and the mean total score was 11.8 (SD = 2.1). As can be seen in Table 23, the majority of respondents were satisfied with and enjoyed their jobs. There were no significant differences among the demographic variables.

Organisational commitment

This scale measured the extent to which respondents identified with their organisation.²⁴ The total scores ranged

from 3 to 10 (maximum possible score of 10) and the mean total score was 8.0 (SD = 1.4), indicating high levels of organisational commitment by the majority of respondents (Table 24).

There was a significant difference between responses of managers from government (M = 7.6, SD = 1.4) and non-government (M = 8.2, SD = 1.3) treatment services (p < .01). Nearly 10% of government managers disagreed or strongly disagreed that they felt proud to inform others about their organisation compared to 2% of non-government managers who disagreed with this statement. There were no other significant differences in organisational commitment among the demographic factors.

Table 23: Responses to items in the Job Satisfaction Scale

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I find real enjoyment in my job	0	4	13	56	27	278
Most days I am enthusiastic about my job	1	5	10	64	20	280
I feel well satisfied with my job	0	8	19	58	15	279

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

Table 24: Responses to items in the Organisational Commitment Scale

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I am quite proud to tell people I work for this organisation	1	5	19	52	23	280
I feel myself to be a part of this organisation	0	3	12	60	25	279

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

²³ The job satisfaction scale had high reliability (α = .89) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

 24 The organisational commitment scale had high reliability (α = .76) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

Burnout

The burnout scale consisted of 16 items and measured three dimensions of burnout – exhaustion, cynicism and professional efficacy. Each dimension of burnout was analysed separately.

Exhaustion

The Exhaustion subscale included statements regarding levels of stress and fatigue experienced due to the job.²⁵ The total scores ranged from 5 to 25 (maximum possible score 25) and the mean total score was 14.3 (SD = 4.1). Nearly half the respondents (48%) felt emotionally drained from work and over a third of respondents (37%) felt used up at the end of the workday (Table 25). Thirty percent of respondents agreed that they felt tired at the prospect of

facing another day at work and over 20% agreed or strongly agreed that they felt burnt out from their work. Overall, 21% of the respondents obtained high scores on the Exhaustion subscale.²⁶ Exhaustion was negatively associated with age, that is, younger respondents reported higher levels of exhaustion (r = -.13, p < .05). There were no significant differences for other demographic factors.

Cynicism

Items in the Cynicism subscale reflect the level of disillusionment experienced with one's job (Table 26). ²⁷ Respondents' scores ranged from 4 to 20 (maximum possible score of 20) and the mean total score was 9.6 (SD = 3.4). Overall, 17% of respondents obtained high scores on this scale.²⁸ There were no demographic differences observed for scores in cynicism.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I feel emotionally drained from my work	3	24	25	41	7	280
I feel used up at the end of the workday	4	31	28	30	7	280
I feel tired when I get up in the morning and have to face another day on the job	5	41	24	25	5	280
Working all day is a strain for me	9	54	24	10	3	280
I feel burned out from my work	9	42	27	18	4	280

Table 25: Responses to items in the Exhaustion Scale

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

²⁵ The exhaustion scale had high reliability (α = .88) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

²⁶ Scores that were in the upper third range of the scale were categorised as 'high scores'.

²⁷ The cynicism scale had high reliability (α = .84) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale except for one item.

²⁸ Scores that were in the upper third range of the scale were considered high.

Professional efficacy

The Professional Efficacy subscale examined respondents' confidence in their work performance.³⁰ Respondents' scores ranged from 16 to 30 (maximum possible score of 30) and the mean total score was 12.4 (SD = 3.8). The majority of respondents reported high levels of professional capability (Table 27). No significant differences were observed between demographic variables for professional efficacy.

SD D NA/ND Α SA **Statements** (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) I have become less interested in my work since I 17 45 16 19 3 278 started this job I have become less enthusiastic about my work 15 46 13 23 З 278 I just want to do my job and not be bothered²⁹ 8 36 32 20 4 278 I have become more cynical about whether my 44 20 16 2 278 18 work contributes anything I doubt the significance of my work 23 50 16 10 1 278

Table 26: Responses to items in the Cynicism Scale

Note: SD - strongly disagree, D - disagree, NA/ND - neither agree nor disagree, A - agree, SA - strongly agree

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I can effectively solve the problems that arise in my work	1	6	11	74	8	280
I feel I am making an effective contribution to what this organisation does	0	1	7	73	19	277
In my opinion, I am good at my job		4	16	60	20	278
I feel exhilarated when I accomplish something at my work		1	8	59	31	274
I have accomplished many worthwhile things in this job	0	4	12	68	16	278
At my work, I feel confident that I am effective in getting things done	0	3	8	67	22	279

Table 27: Responses to items in the Professional Efficacy Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

²⁹ This item was excluded from the total score and subsequent analyses due to its poor factorial loadings on the scale. Previous research has also excluded this item due to its ambivalent nature.

 $^{^{30}}$ The professional efficacy scale had high reliability ($\alpha = .84$) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

Turnover Intention

This scale examined respondents' intention to leave their current position.³¹ The total scores ranged from 4 to 20 (maximum possible score of 20) with a mean total score of 11 (SD =3.7). Sixty-one percent of respondents had thought about leaving their job. However, only 29% indicated that they were planning to look for a new job over the next 12 months. About one in five respondents (19%) reported plans to look for a new job outside the AOD field (Table 28).

There was a negative correlation between turnover intention and age (r = -.21, p < .01) and length of service in the organisation (r = -.16, p < .01), indicating that younger managers, and those with shorter durations of employment with their organisation had higher intentions to quit. There were no other significant demographic differences for this factor.

Career strategy

The maximum possible score was 5, and the mean score for this item was 3 (SD = 1.1). A similar percentage of respondents either agreed or disagreed with this statement (Table 29). The item was negatively correlated with length of service in the organisation (r = -.25, p < .01), age (r = -.16, p < .01) and length of service as a manager (r = -.13, p < .05), indicating that younger managers and those with fewer years of work experience as a manager were more likely to agree that changing jobs from time to time is a good career development strategy.

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
I have thought about leaving my job	7	19	13	46	15	280
I plan to look for a new job over the next 12 months	15	36	20	18	11	280
I intend to search for a new job within the AOD field but outside this organisation	19	44	23	9	5	279
I intend to search for a new job outside the AOD field	19	37	25	14	5	279

Table 28: Responses to items in the Turnover Intention Scale

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

Table 29: Responses regarding changing jobs as a career strategy

Statements	SD (%)	D (%)	NA/ND (%)	A (%)	SA (%)	n
Changing jobs every few years is a positive strategy to develop a career in management	9	23	34	27	7	280

Note: SD – strongly disagree, D – disagree, NA/ND – neither agree nor disagree, A – agree, SA – strongly agree

 31 The turnover intention scale had high reliability (α = .82) and the items had high factorial loadings on the scale.

Predictors of Wellbeing

A series of stepwise regressions was subsequently conducted to investigate the influence of workplace factors / conditions on managers' wellbeing in terms of their job satisfaction, organisational commitment, burnout and turnover intention.

Predictors of Job Attitudes

Job satisfaction

The biggest predictor of job satisfaction was perceived reciprocity, which contributed 15% to the variance in job satisfaction scores. Higher levels of job satisfaction were also associated with lower levels of role ambiguity (8%), and higher levels of workplace support (2%). Together, these variables accounted for 23% of the variance in job satisfaction (Table 30).

\mathbb{R}^2 Predictor Beta Siq. variables Change Lack of -.273 -3.98 .15 .000 perceived reciprocity Role .08 -.226 -3.40 .001 ambiguity Workplace .02 .166 2.28 .024 support Adjusted $R^2 = .23$

Table 30: Predictor variables for job satisfaction

Organisational commitment

Workplace support was observed to be the main predictor of organisational commitment, accounting for 13% of the variance in scores. Other workplace factors that were associated with higher levels of organisational commitment included higher levels of job autonomy (7%), perceived management competency (3%) and greater organisational support (2%). These factors accounted for 24% of the variance in organisational commitment scores (Table 31).

Table 31: Predictor variables for organisational commitment

Predictor variables	R² Change	Beta	t	Sig.
Workplace support	.13	.199	2.90	.004
Job autonomy	.07	.242	3.75	.000
Perceived management competency	.03	.165	2.61	.010
Organisational support	.02	.156	2.33	.021
Adjusted R ² = .24	4			

Predictors of Burnout

As the burnout scale is measured in terms of three distinct but inter-related dimensions, stepwise regressions were performed on each dimension separately.

Exhaustion

The most important predictor of exhaustion was perceptions of low levels of reciprocity, which contributed 14% to the variance in exhaustion scores. Higher levels of work exhaustion were associated with lack of reciprocation of effort from others in the organisation. Other contributors to the variance in exhaustion scores were high workloads (7%), perceived lack of management competency (4%), and unsafe and unpleasant physical work environments (3%). Combined, these work conditions predicted 26% of the variance in exhaustion (Table 32).

Predictor variables	R² Change	Beta	t	Sig.				
Lack of perceived reciprocity	.14	. 257	4.05	.000				
Workload	.07	.238	3.80	.000				
Perceived management competency	.04	184	-3.03	.003				
Physical work environment	.03	169	-2.67	.008				
Adjusted R ² = .	26							

Table 32: Predictor variables for exhaustion

Cynicism

Knowledge of performance was the most important predictor of cynicism, accounting for 21% of the variance in cynicism scores. Having less knowledge about one's work performance was associated with higher levels of cynicism towards work. Other predictor variables that accounted for the variance in cynicism were lower perceptions of reciprocity (9%), lower levels of workplace support (4%), unsafe physical work environments (2%), lower job autonomy (2%), and perceived lack of managerial competence (1%). Together, these work conditions predicted 37% of cynicism (Table 33).

Predictor variables	R² Change	Beta	t	Sig.
Knowledge of performance	.21	235	-3.75	.000
Lack of perceived reciprocity	.09	.222	3.48	.001
Workplace support	.04	146	-2.25	.026
Physical work environment	.02	131	-2.23	.027
Job autonomy	.02	140	-2.29	.023
Perceived management competency	.01	117	-2.03	.044
Adjusted $R^2 = .2$	37			

Table 33: Predictor variables for cynicism

Professional efficacy

The most important predictor of professional efficacy was higher scores in management competency, which accounted for 13% of the variance in professional efficacy scores. That is, higher levels of perceived managerial competence were associated with a higher degree of professional efficacy. Other factors that contributed to the variance in professional efficacy were lower levels of role ambiguity (7%), safer and more pleasant work environments (3%), and higher job autonomy (2%). Combined, these variables accounted for 24% of the variance in professional efficacy scores (Table 34).

Predictors of Turnover Intention

The key predictor for turnover intention was lack of rewards for performance, which contributed 11% to the variance in turnover intention scores. Lack of perceived reciprocity (6%), lack of perceived management competency (4%) and less safe / pleasant work environment (2%) also predicted turnover intention. In total, these workplace factors accounted for 21% of the variance in turnover intention (Table 35).

Table 35: Predictor variables for turnover intention

Predictor variables	R ² Change	Beta	t	Sig.
Constant			7.29	.000
Rewards for performance	.11	204	-3.07	.002
Lack of perceived reciprocity	.06	.225	3.39	.001
Perceived management competency		179	-2.82	.005
Physical work environment	- ()2		-2.47	.015
Adjusted R ² = .	21			

Table 34: Predictor variables for professional efficacy

Predictor variables	R ² Change	Beta	t	Sig.
Perceived management competency	.13	.256	3.99	.000
Role ambiguity	.07	189	- 2.74	.007
Physical work environment	.03	.158	2.51	.013
Job autonomy	.02	.166	2.47	.014
Adjusted R ² = .	24			

DISCUSSION

This study was designed to examine indicators and predictors of wellbeing among managers of AOD treatment service agencies. Managers were surveyed about their job-related attitudes, burnout, turnover intention, and working conditions. Overall, the findings of the current study indicated that the majority of managers were highly satisfied with their jobs, committed to their organisations and displayed a high level of confidence in their professional capabilities. Despite this, they face considerable workforce development challenges that may compromise their health and wellbeing in the workplace. A significant proportion of AOD managers reported intentions to leave their job and burnout levels above the midpoint.

Indicators of Wellbeing

The majority of managers reported high levels of job satisfaction and organisational commitment. However, burnout appeared to be an issue for a substantial proportion of managers. While the majority of managers reported high levels of professional efficacy, one in five managers reported high levels of exhaustion from work, and 17% reported high levels of cynicism. Nearly a third of managers reported burnout levels that were above the midpoint, with 8% of all managers experiencing very high levels of burnout. Similar levels were observed in a sample of AOD workers in the US. $^{\mbox{\tiny (45)}}$

With regard to turnover intention, nearly one in three intended to look for a new job over the next 12 months. Of most concern was that nearly one in five of all managers intended to leave the AOD field. These findings support anecdotal and other evidence from the field regarding high turnover and difficulties experienced in recruitment and retention.⁽⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹⁾ The recent NCETA nationwide study of AOD frontline workers also revealed a similar percentage of workers reporting intentions to leave the AOD field to look for another job.⁽²⁷⁾ Given that anecdotal evidence suggests that the AOD field is experiencing a serious shortage of workers, coupled with recruitment challenges,^(46, 50) there is a compelling need to address turnover and retention in the workforce. Improving recruitment and reducing turnover are essential for the effective and efficient running of AOD services. Moreover, turnover among managers may also affect the morale and wellbeing of their staff.

Given these levels of turnover intention and burnout, a significant proportion of AOD managers in the field may be experiencing less than optimal levels of wellbeing. Critical workplace factors that could be contributing to negative attitudes, stress and burnout were identified in this study that can inform strategies designed to enhance AOD managers' sense of wellbeing.

Critical Workplace Factors

Several key workplace factors were significantly associated with AOD managers' indicators of wellbeing. Table 36 outlines the predictors of job satisfaction, organisational commitment and professional efficacy (left-hand column) and contrasts these with the predictors of turnover intention, exhaustion and cynicism (right-hand column).

Managers' levels of job satisfaction, organisational commitment and professional efficacy were found to be high, even though the mean scores for turnover intention and exhaustion were above the midpoint level. Given this, the positive work factors that contribute to wellbeing are discussed below, followed by an examination of the work factors that contribute to turnover intention, exhaustion and cynicism, and compromise wellbeing.

Positive work factors

A number of positive working conditions were identified that predicted managers' high levels of job satisfaction, organisational commitment and professional efficacy and / or low levels of exhaustion, cynicism and turnover intention. These included high levels of workplace support, knowledge of performance, job autonomy, low levels of role ambiguity, and safe and pleasant work environments.

Workplace support

Workplace support was a key predictor of high levels of organisational commitment and job satisfaction, as well as lower levels of cynicism among AOD managers. While most managers reported having supportive colleagues and staff, one in five managers disagreed that they were well supported by upper management. Clear evidence exists for the relationship between lack of workplace support and burnout^(16, 18) and some studies have found that social support

Predictors that enhance wellbeing	Predictors that impair wellbeing
Perceived reciprocity	(Lack of) perceived reciprocity
Perceived management competency	(Lack of) perceived management competency
Workplace support	(Low) workplace support
Job autonomy	(Lack of) job autonomy
Organisational support	(Lack of) knowledge of performance
(Lack of) role ambiguity	(Lack of) rewards for performance
(Safe & pleasant) physical work environment	(Poor) physical work environment
	(Excessive) workload

Table 36: Predictors of wellbeing

may be an effective buffer against demanding job conditions.⁽¹⁸⁾ As such, strategies that encourage support from staff and colleagues, particularly senior management, are essential.⁽⁵¹⁾

Knowledge of performance

Most managers were aware of how well they performed in their jobs. This is essential, as knowledge of one's performance helps maintain motivational levels, and aids in the development of competence.(52, 53) Generally, managers with fewer years of experience in their current work organisation had more knowledge of their performance. While this finding seems counter-intuitive, it may be that managers who are new to this role tend to receive more feedback about their performance, or actively seek it out. The present findings highlight the value of having continuous, planned and structured feedback on performance as opposed to having it occur on a sporadic or ad hoc basis.

Job autonomy and role clarity

AOD managers also reported high levels of job autonomy and high levels of role clarity. The majority of managers reported that they had the freedom to make decisions about work and were certain about what to do and what was expected of them in their work role. As with the findings from previous research, these workplace factors were associated with high levels of organisational commitment,⁽²⁵⁾ job satisfaction^(54, 55) and professional efficacy.^(16, 56)

Physical work environment

The physical work environment played an important role in the prediction of managers' wellbeing. The majority of managers in the study reported that their workplace was safe and pleasant. Ensuring a safe and secure workplace is particularly relevant for work with AOD clients given the potential for aggression when clients are intoxicated, in withdrawal, or drug seeking. In addition to safety and physical security, a pleasant working environment can also have a significant impact on worker morale. For example, adequate space, light, equipment and physical location (e.g., proximity to transport and other services) are important aspects of a pleasant physical working environment.

Given that positive attitudes in the workplace are good indicators of wellbeing, it is essential that measures, such as those highlighted above, are taken to ensure that work factors such as knowledge of performance, workplace support, job autonomy and role clarity are encouraged and maintained.

Negative work factors

There were also negative working conditions that were affecting managers' levels of wellbeing in the study. These included lack of perceived reciprocity, lack of management competency, inadequate rewards for performance, and excessive workloads. These factors contributed to higher levels of turnover intention, exhaustion and cynicism and / or low levels of job satisfaction, organisational commitment and professional efficacy among AOD managers.

Perceived reciprocity

A perceived lack of reciprocity in staff and organisational relationships was a significant predictor of turnover intention, job satisfaction, and burnout, These results are consistent with previous research that identified a link between perceived inequity, and burnout⁽⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹⁾ and turnover.⁽⁶⁰⁾ It may be that AOD managers who feel they give more than they receive in return from their organisation tend to feel more emotionally fatigued, less interested, and more dissatisfied with their work and subsequently form intentions to leave. Feelings of inequity were reported by more than a third of managers in the study who agreed that their contributions to the organisation outweigh the benefits they receive in return. Strategies that promote an equitable exchange in working relationships are known to be important preventative steps in mitigating the risk

of turnover and burnout in managers.^(39, 57) Simple measures such as explicitly encouraging Board members and staff to show demonstrable support and offer positive feedback to managers would go some way to addressing this pivotal issue.

Perceived management competency

Lack of perceived management competency was a significant predictor of turnover intention and all three burnout dimensions (exhaustion, cynicism and professional efficacy). Younger and / or inexperienced managers reported lower levels of managerial training and skills compared to older managers and those with more years of work experience. Just over 40% of all managers reported insufficient management skills and training. Related to this issue, nearly one in four managers reported that they did not receive adequate support from upper management to attend training and over a guarter reported difficulty in managing staff from different professional backgrounds. These findings are consistent with the project stakeholder consultation⁽⁶¹⁾ where it was noted that AOD workers with mainly clinical experience are usually promoted to managerial positions without proper training and therefore often lack essential managerial knowledge and skills. Given the dynamic and complex nature of the AOD field and its workforce, and the large proportion of managers with predominantly clinical

backgrounds, the issue of limited managerial skills and training requires attention. Management training is highlighted here as a high priority need to retain AOD managers and reduce their levels of stress and burnout.

Rewards for performance

Lack of rewards for performance was a key predictor of turnover intention among managers in the study. Nearly 90% of managers disagreed that they were likely to be financially rewarded if they performed well. In terms of non-financial rewards, approximately a third of managers reported that they were less likely to receive praise and recognition from senior managers or be provided with opportunities to develop their own projects, as a reward for good performance. These results accord with previous research that has found a link between performancecontingent rewards and turnover.(22) If AOD managers feel that they are not being acknowledged (financially or otherwise) for their performance then this may partly influence their intentions to guit and look for a job elsewhere. While the provision of adequate financial rewards can be a challenge in AOD organisations, nontangible rewards such as recognition or opportunities for advancement often work just as effectively.(62) It is important to note that individuals need to feel that they are being acknowledged and appreciated for their contributions, and that there are incentives for performing well in their job.

Workload

This study also found excessive workloads to be a significant predictor of exhaustion. This is consistent with previous research findings in the AOD workforce.⁽²¹⁾ Excessive workload appears to be a particularly important factor as more than half the managers surveyed reported having too much work to do everything well and not enough time to get everything done.

Staff shortages may be the most salient contributor to excessive workload. as this was the most frequently reported factor that caused pressure at work. However, the strong statistical association between workload and role conflict indicates that conflict between clinical and administrative roles may also play a part. Over three-quarters of managers surveyed reported having dual administrative and clinical work roles. Of these, almost two-thirds reported conflicting priorities between these work roles, which reduced their effectiveness in performing their clinical role. Clearly, juggling roles as both manager and clinician requires attention.

Regardless of whether managers' exhaustion levels are due to workloads created by staff shortages or conflicting roles, the excessive workload of AOD agency managers needs to be addressed. It may be worthwhile developing strategies to help clarify the diverse roles of managers, or strategies that may help them balance these demands on their time.^(61, 63) Programs or interventions that help manage workrelated pressures and demands could also be implemented.⁽⁵¹⁾

Younger and Less Experienced Managers at Greater Risk

Younger managers reported higher levels of exhaustion compared to older managers in this study. Previous studies have found a similar link between age and levels of exhaustion or stress.⁽⁴⁾ This may be due to younger managers still being in the process of developing the necessary skills and resources to cope with their jobs. Younger managers also reported higher levels of role conflict, lower levels of managerial competency, and higher intentions to guit. In addition, managers with fewer years of experience reported more difficulties in managing a diverse workforce, greater uncertainty in their work roles, less perceived competence as a manager, inadequate workplace support, less job autonomy, less financial reward for performance, and less support for professional development from upper management.

These findings indicate that younger and less experienced managers need tailored, proactive support and encouragement, and access to management training. AOD management mentoring programs could be an effective and cost-efficient strategy to address these issues.

Managers in Government Treatment Agencies

Results from this study indicated significant differences in a number of working conditions and attitudes among government sector AOD managers in comparison to managers from other sectors. A larger proportion of government agency managers reported an inequitable return for their investment in their work relationships and organisation; lower levels of job autonomy; higher levels of conflict between their clinical and administrative roles; less safe and pleasant working environments; and lower levels of organisational commitment compared to managers from non-government agencies. Furthermore, there were significant differences between managers from government agencies and those from private agencies. Managers from government agencies reported greater uncertainty in their roles; lower probability of receiving bonuses as a reward for their performance: and less satisfaction with their remuneration compared to private agency managers. These factors are of specific relevance to government treatment funders and agencies and need to be considered when developing strategies to improve wellbeing and retention levels of their AOD managers / supervisors.

Conclusion

In general, it appears that AOD managers experience substantial satisfaction from their work and are committed to their organisations. However, a proportion experience less than adequate working conditions: inequitable working relationships, lack of managerial competence, excessive workloads, and lack of performancecontingent rewards. This combination of factors contributed to high levels of turnover intention and burnout in a substantial proportion of managers.

The implications of the current study are clear. In order to protect and enhance AOD managers' wellbeing, job attitudes need to be improved, the risk of stress and burnout needs to be minimised, and organisations need to focus on workplace factors that predict turnover intention, stress and burnout in particular, as these were the indicators of wellbeing that were at elevated levels. Specifically, AOD managers need to feel that efforts invested in their staff and their organisation are equitably rewarded in return. More managementfocused training is needed to build capabilities and competencies of managers, and excessive workloads need to be addressed. Finally, managers need to be provided with strong support from all levels in the organisation in order to cope with the challenges of managing an AOD service. If these issues are not addressed, then managers' health and wellbeing may be severely compromised. While it

is acknowledged that many AOD organisations have limited resources, it may be worthwhile investing in evidence-based organisational strategies to improve occupational wellbeing and retention, which will be cost-efficient in the long-term.⁽⁶³⁾

This study's findings may be an underestimation of the full extent of the problems faced by AOD managers in terms of their health and wellbeing. While the response rate to the survey was encouraging, there may have been a proportion of managers who did not complete the survey because they were too busy, overburdened with work, or too stressed. In addition, the survey did not include managers who had already left the field including those who may have left due to being burnt out. Finally, the sampling frame utilised in the current study was sourced from a database of agencies established in 2001 and it may not have encompassed all current treatment services.

The results of this study have important implications for strategies designed to improve the working conditions of AOD managers. To preserve managers' health and wellbeing, and to maintain effective retention levels, workforce development strategies need to focus more specifically on ensuring reciprocity in workplace relationships, providing managerial training opportunities, manageable workloads and adequate rewards and recognition for performance.

REFERENCES

- GALLON, S. L., GABRIEL, R. M. & KNUDSEN, J. R. (2003) The toughest job you'll ever love: A Pacific Northwest treatment workforce survey, *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 24, 183-196.
- EVANS, W. N. & HOHENSHIL, T. H. (1997) Job satisfaction of substance abuse counselors, *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 15, 1-13.
- 3. DOLLARD, M. F., WINEFIELD, A. H. & WINEFIELD, H. R. (2003) *Occupational stress in the service professions* (London, Taylor & Francis).
- LEE, R. T. & ASHFORTH, B. E. (1993) A further examination of managerial burnout: Toward an integrated model, *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 14, 3-20.
- BAKKER, A. B., SCHAUFELI, W. B., SIXMA, H. J. & BOSVELD, W. (2001) Burnout contagion among general practitioners, *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 20, 82-98.
- BAKKER, A. B. & SCHAUFELI, W. B. (2000) Burnout contagion processes among teachers, *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30, 2289-2308.
- VAN HORN, J. E., TARIS, T. W., SCHAUFELI, W. B. & SCHREURS, P. J. G. (2004) The structure of occupational wellbeing: A study among Dutch teachers, *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 77, 365-375.
- SPECTOR, P. E. (2000) Industrial and organizational psychology: Research and practice (New York, Wiley).
- FARMER, R., CLANCY, C., OYEFESO, A. & RASSOOL, G. (2002) Stress and work with substance misusers: The development and cross-validation of a new instrument to measure staff stress, *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 9, 377-388.

- OGBORNE, A. C. & GRAVES, G. (2005) Optimizing Canada's addiction treatment workforce: Results of a national survey of service providers (Ottawa, ON, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse).
- WILSON, M. G., DEJOY, D. M., VANDENBERG, R. J., RICHARDSON, H. A. & MCGRATH, A. L. (2004) Work characteristics and employee health and wellbeing: Test of a model of healthy work organization, *Journal* of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 77, 565-588.
- KNUDSEN, H. K., JOHNSON, J. A. & ROMAN, P. M. (2003) Retaining counseling staff at substance abuse treatment centers: Effects of management practices, *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 24, 129-135.
- MASLACH, C., SCHAUFELI, W. B. & LEITER, M. P. (2001) Job burnout, Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 397-422.
- 14. MASLACH, C. (1982) *Burnout the cost of caring* (Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice-Hall).
- 15. MASLACH, C. & LEITER, M. P. (1997) *The truth about burnout* (San Francisco, CA, Jossey-Bass).
- LEE, R. T. & ASHFORTH, B. E. (1996) A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81, 123-133.
- DE JONGE, J. & SCHAUFELI, W. B. (1998) Job characteristics and employee wellbeing: a test of Warr's vitamin model in health care workers using structural equation modelling, *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 387-407.

- SCHAUFELI, W. B. & ENZMANN, D. (1998) The burnout companion to study and practice: A critical analysis (London, Taylor & Francis).
- CORDES, C. L. & DOUGHERTY, T. W. (1993) A review and integration of research on job burnout, *Academy of Management Review*, 18, 621-656.
- GARMAN, A. N., CORRIGAN, P. W. & MORRIS, S. (2002) Staff burnout and patient satisfaction: Evidence of relationships at the care unit level, *Journal* of Occupational Psychology, 7, 235-241.
- PRICE, L. & SPENCE, S. H. (1994) Burnout symptoms amongst drug and alcohol service employees: Gender differences in the interaction between work and home stressors, *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping,* 7, 67-84.
- 22. GRIFFETH, R. W., HOM, P. W. & GAERTNER, S. (2000) A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: Update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium, *Journal of Management*, 26, 463-488.
- KNUDSEN, H. K., DUCHARME, L. J. & ROMAN, P. M. (2006) Counselor emotional exhaustion and turnover intention in therapeutic communities, *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 31, 173-180.
- 24. ACKERBOOM, S. & MAES, S. (2006) Beyond demand and control: The contribution of organizational risk factors in assessing the psychological wellbeing of health care employees, *Work and Stress*, 20, 21-36.
- 25. MATHIEU, J. E. & ZAJAC, D. M. (1990) A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates and consequences of organizational commitment, *Psychological Bulletin*, 108, 171-194.

- BARAK, M. E. M., NISSLY, J. & LEVIN, A. (2001) Antecedents to retention and turnover among child welfare, social work and other human service employees: What can we learn from past research?, *Social Service Review*, 75, 625-661.
- DURAISINGAM, V., PIDD, K. & ROCHE, A. M. (2006) Stress, satisfaction and retention among alcohol and other drug workers in Australia. (Adelaide, Australia, National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University).
- ERERA, I. P. (1991) Supervisors can burn-out too, *The Clinical Supervisor*, 9, 131-148.
- MONTGOMERY, A. J., PEETERS, M. C. W., SCHAUFELI, W. B. & DEN OUDEN, M. (2003) Work-home interference among newspaper managers: Its relationship with burnout and engagement, *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping*, 16, 195-211.
- DOLAN, S. L. (1995) Individual, organizational and social determinants of managerial burnout: Theoretical and empirical update, in: Crandall, R. & Perrewe, P. L. (Eds.) Occupational stress: A handbook. Series in health psychology and behavioral medicine, pp. 223-228 (London, Taylor & Francis).
- CORDES, C., DOUGHERTY, T. W. & BLUM, M. (1997) Patterns of burnout among managers and professionals: A comparison of models, *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 18, 685-701.
- 32. DOLAN, S. L. & RENAUD, S. (1992) Individual, organizational and social determinants of managerial burnout: A multivariate approach, *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 7, 95-110.
- 33. LEE, R. T. & ASHFORTH, B. E. (1993) A longitudinal study of burnout among supervisors and managers: Comparisons between the Leiter and Maslach (1988) and Golembiewski et al. (1986) models, *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 54, 369-398.

- LEE, R. T. & ASHFORTH, B. E. (1991) Work-unit structure and processes and job-related stressors as predictors of managerial burnout, *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 21, 1831-1847.
- SHAND, F. L. & MATTICK, R. P. (2001) Clients of treatment service agencies: May 2001 census findings (Canberra, Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing).
- TORRES, M. I., MATTICK, R. P., CHEN, R. & BAILLIE, A. (1995) Clients of treatment service agencies: March 1995 census findings (Canberra, Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing).
- 37. CAMMANN, C., FICHMAN, M., JENKINS, G. D., JR. & KLESH, J. R. (1983) Assessing the attitudes and perceptions of organizational members, in: Seashore, S. E., Lawler, E. E., III., Mirvis, P. H. & Cammann, C. (Eds.) Assessing organizational change: A guide to methods, measures and practices (New York, Wiley).
- 38. KARASEK, R. A., BRISSON, C., KAWAKAMI, N. et al. (1998) The Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ): An instrument for internationally comparitive assessments of psychosocial job characteristics, *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 3, 322-355.
- SCHAUFELI, W. B., VAN DIERENDONCK, D. & VAN GORP, K. (1996) Burnout and reciprocity: Towards a dual-level social exchange model, *Work and Stress*, 10, 225-237.
- 40. ADDY, D., SKINNER, N., SHOOBRIDGE, J. et al. (2004) Handbook for the work practice questionnaire: A training evaluation measurement tool for the alcohol and other drugs field (Adelaide, South Australia, National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University. URL: http://www.nceta.flinders.edu.au).

- PRICE, J. L. & MUELLER, C. W. (1981) *Professional Turnover: The Case of Nurses* (New York, Spectrum).
- COOK, J. & WALL, T. (1980) New work attitude measures of trust, organisational commitment and personal need nonfulfillment, *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 53, 39-52.
- SCHAUFELI, W. B., LEITER, M. P., MASLACH, C. & JACKSON, S. E. (1996) MBI - General Survey, in: Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E. & Leiter, M. P. (Eds.) Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual, pp. 19-26 (Palo Alto, CA, Consulting Psychologists Press).
- 44. O'DRISCOLL, M. P. & BEEHR, T. A. (1994) Supervisor behaviours, role stressors and uncertainty as predictors of personal outcomes for subordinates, *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 15, 141-155.
- 45. FARMER, R. (1995) Stress and working with drug misusers, *Addiction Research*, 3, 113-122.
- 46. PIERCE, L. & LONG, V. (2002) The NADA workforce development project, in: Roche, A. M. & McDonald, J. (Eds.) Catching clouds: Exploring diversity in workforce development in the alcohol and drugs field, pp. 51-54 (National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia).
- 47. VICTORIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG ASSOCIATION (VAADA) (2003) Getting past the rhetoric: Employing people who have had drug problems in the alcohol and other drug sector (Melbourne, Victoria, Victorian Alcohol and Drug Association (VAADA)).
- WOLINKSI, K., O'NEILL, M., ROCHE, A. M., FREEMAN, T. & DONALD, A. (2003) Alcohol and other drug treatment agencies: A national workforce development survey (National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia).

- 49. ROCHE, A., O'NEILL, M. & WOLINKSI, K. (2004) Alcohol and other drug specialist treatment services and their managers: Findings from a national survey, Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 28, 252-258.
- 50. VAADA (2003) Alcohol and other drug workforce development in Australia: The assessment of needs and the identification of strategies to achieve sustainable change. Summary jurisdictional reports. (Melbourne, Victorian Alcohol & Drug Association (VAADA)).
- 51. SKINNER, N. & ROCHE, A. M. (2005) Stress and Burnout: A Prevention Handbook for the Alcohol and Other Drugs Workforce (Adelaide, National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University).
- 52. HACKMAN, J. R. & OLDHAM, G. R. (1980) *Work redesign* (Reading, Massachusetts, Addison-Wesley).
- 53. BANDURA, A. (1986) *Social foundations of thought and action:* A social cognitive theory (Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice-Hall).
- 54. JACKSON, S. E. & SCHULER, R. S. (1985) A meta-analysis and conceptual critique of research on role ambiguity and role conflict in work settings, Organizational *Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 36, 16-78.
- HACKMAN, J. R. & OLDHAM, G. R. (1976) Motivation through the design of work: Test of a theory, *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 16, 250-279.
- DEMEROUTI, E., BAKKER, A. B., NACHREINER, F. & SCHAUFELI, W.
 B. (2001) The job demands-resources model of burnout, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 499-512.

- 57. BAKKER, A. B., SCHAUFELI, W. B., SIXMA, H. J., BOSVELD, W. & VAN DIERENDONCK, D. (2000) Patient demands, lack of reciprocity and burnout: A five-year longitudinal study among general practitioners, *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 425-441.
- TARIS, T. W., PEETERS, M. C. W., LE BLANC, P. M., SCHREURS, P. J. G. & SCHAUFELI, W. B. (2001) From inequity to burnout: the role of job stress, *Journal* of Occupational Health Psychology, 6, 303-323.
- 59. VAN DIERENDONCK, D., SCHAUFELI, W. B. & BUUNK, B. P. (2001) Burnout and inequity among human service professionals: a longitudinal study, *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 6, 43-52.
- GUERTS, S. A., SCHAUFELI, W. B. & RUTTE, C. G. (1999) Absenteeism, turnover and inequity in the employment relationship, *Work and Stress*, 13, 253-267.
- 61. SKINNER, N. & ROCHE, A. M. (2005) Identifying and preventing burnout in AOD managers and supervisors. Literature review and stakeholder consultation (National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia).
- ZUNZ, S. J. (1998) Resiliency and burnout: Protective factors for human service managers, *Administration in Social Work*, 22, 39-54.
- 63. SKINNER, N. (2005) Worker wellbeing, in: Skinner, N., Roche, A. M., O'Connor, J., Pollard, Y. & Todd, C. (Eds.) Workforce Development TIPS (Theory into Practice Strategies): A Resource Kit for the Alcohol and Other Drugs Field (Adelaide, South Australia, National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University).

APPENDIX I

THE SURVEY INSTRUMENT

Health and wellbeing of managers in the Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) workforce

An examination of factors that contribute to managers' wellbeing and effectiveness





About this survey...

The National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) is conducting a research project on the health, wellbeing and job satisfaction of managers in the alcohol and other drugs (AOD) workforce.

This survey has been distributed to the manager of each agency registered on the Clients of Treatment Services database (COTSA).

We would be most grateful if you would volunteer to spare the time to assist in this important project, by completing a questionnaire which touches upon certain aspects of this topic. No more than **15 minutes** of your time would be required.

Be assured that any information provided will be treated in the strictest confidence (i.e., all responses are confidential) and none of the participants will be individually identifiable in the resulting reports or other publications (i.e., all participants are completely anonymous). You are, of course, entirely free to discontinue your participation at any time or to decline to answer particular questions.

Once you have completed the survey, please mail it to the principal researcher in the stamped, self-addressed envelope provided.

For each questionnaire that is completed and returned an amount of \$1 (maximum value \$500) will be donated to Oxfam Australia.

Any queries you may have concerning this project should be directed to the principal researcher at the address given on the title page or by telephone (08) 8201 7535, fax (08) 8201 7550 or e-mail (ken.pidd@flinders.edu.au).

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee. The Secretary of this Committee can be contacted on 8201 5962, fax 8201 2035, or e-mail sandy.huxtable@flinders.edu.au.

Thank you for your attention and assistance.

Yours sincerely,

On this

Dr. Ken Pidd Senior Researcher National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction Flinders University, Adelaide Australia

Please be aware that this survey contains questions which address the topic of stress and burnout, specifically whether you have experienced particular signs and symptoms of stress and burnout. Please do not complete this survey, or certain questions within it, if you feel uncomfortable answering questions on this topic.

A. Challenges of Managing an AOD Organisation

A1. Are there issues that create pressure for you at work?

Yes \Box_1 No \Box_2 (If No – go to Section B below)

If Yes please rank the **top 3** factors.

Use the numbers **1** - **3** in order of importance (1 = most important; 2 = 2nd most important; 3 = 3rd most important). ONLY MARK 3 BOXES.

Staff shortages

- Shortage of essential resources
- Deciding task priorities
- Trivial tasks that interfere with my job role

Having too little time to do what is
 expected of me

Conflicting demands on my time at work by others

Having to attend too many meetings

Organisational change

Conflicting demands between different job roles

- Uncertainty about future funding
- Decisions or changes which affect me are made 'above' without my knowledge or involvement
- ☐ Other (please specify in BLOCK LETTERS)

B. Your Working Conditions

B2. Management Roles and Responsibilities

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I have too much work to do everything well					D ₅
2.	I never seem to have enough time to get everything done					D ₅
З.	The amount of work I am asked to do is fair					
4.	My job allows me to make a lot of decisions about how my service operates					
5.	I have a lot to say about what happens in the service that I manage					
6.	I have opportunities to contribute to the development of organisational policies and procedures					
7.	In my job I have very little freedom to decide how I run my service					
8.	Most of the time I know what I have to do in my job					D ₅
9.	In my job I know exactly what is expected of me				D ₄	D ₅

B3. Relations With Professional Colleagues

Please tick the response which best describes your level of agreement with each statement.

		Strongly disagree	 Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	My staff provide with me with good support for my work as a manager			L ₄	
2.	My professional colleagues provide me with good support for my work as a manager			4	
3.	My Board or Senior Management provide me with good support for my work as a manager			•	
4.	I invest more in the relationship with my staff than I receive in return				
5.	I benefit little from the efforts I put into the organisation			L ₄	
6.	If I take into account my contribution, the organisation ought to provide me with more rewards and benefits			•	
7.	Managing staff from different professional backgrounds creates difficulties for me			•	

B4. Recognition and Rewards

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I am very satisfied with my pay					
2.	My pay is fair considering what other managers in health and human services are paid					
3.	I seldom know whether I'm doing my job well or poorly				L ₄	
4.	I usually don't know whether or not my work is satisfactory in this job			D 3		
5.	If I perform well, I am likely to receive praise and recognition from my Board / Senior Management				•	
6.	If I perform well I am likely to get a bonus or pay increase			D 3		
7.	If I perform well I am likely to get opportunities to develop my own projects / strategies				•	

B5. Physical Work Environment

Please tick the response which best describes your level of agreement with each statement.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1. I work in a safe working environment		D ₂		L ₄	D ₅
2. I work in a pleasant working environment				L 4	

B6. Professional Development

Please tick the response which best describes your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I do not have enough management training to do my job to my satisfaction				4	
2.	I have all the management skills I need in order to do my job					D ₅
3.	I have sufficient support from my Board / Senior Management to access management training				4	

B7. Organisational Support

		Strongly disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree	
1.	My organisation provides formal supervision that helps me in my role as a manager			4	D ₅	
2.	There are formal mechanisms in my organisation to help me debrief after a critical incident			4	D ₅	
З.	I am able to readily access informal support within my organisation when I feel the need			4	D ₅	
4.	My Board of Management/Advisory Panel responds in an enabling way when I raise pressing issues				D ₅	
5.	I have access to a mentor to help me in my role as a manager		D 3		D ₅	
6.	There are adequate guidelines within my organisation to help me in my role as a manager			4	D ₅	
7.	My organisation has flexible working conditions designed to help me achieve a balance between work and my personal life			L ₄	D ₅	

C. Your Relationship With Your Work

C1. Attitudes Towards Your Work

Please tick the response which best describes your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I find real enjoyment in my job					
2.	Most days I am enthusiastic about my job					
З.	I feel well satisfied with my job					
4.	I am quite proud to tell people I work for this organisation		\square_2			
5.	l feel myself to be a part of this organisation		D ₂		•	
6.	I have thought about leaving my job					
7.	I plan to look for a new job over the next 12 months		\square_2			
8.	I intend to search for a new job within the AOD field but outside this organisation				L ₄	
9.	l intend to search for a new job outside the AOD field				•	
10.	. Changing jobs every few years is a positive strategy to develop a career in management				4	

C2. Your Wellbeing

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I feel emotionally drained from my work					
2.	I feel used up at the end of the workday		\square_2			
3.	I feel tired when I get up in the morning and have to face another day on the job				4	
4.	Working all day is a real strain for me		\square_2			
5.	I can effectively solve the problems that arise in my work					
6.	I feel burned out from my work					
7.	I feel I am making an effective contri- bution to what this organisation does		\square_2			
8.	I have become less interested in my work since I started this job		D ₂	D ₃	L ₄	

9.	I have become less enthusiastic about my work		D ₃	L ₄	D ₅
10.	In my opinion, I am good at my job				
11.	I feel exhilarated when I accomplish something at my work				
12.	I have accomplished many worthwhile things in this job		D ₃		D ₅
13.	l just want to do my job and not be bothered		D ₃		D ₅
14.	I have become more cynical about whether my work contributes anything		D ₃		D ₅
15.	I doubt the significance of my work				
16.	At my work, I feel confident that I am effective in getting things done				

D. Clinical and Administrative Roles

Do you have both clinical and administrative responsibilities in your current position?

Yes \Box_1 Please answer the following 3 questions

No \Box_2 Please move on to Section E (DEMOGRAPHICS)

Please tick the response which best describes your level of agreement with each statement.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree or disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	My clinical and administrative roles involve conflicting priorities		D ₂			
2.	Administrative responsibilities reduce my capacity to operate effectively in a clinical role				•	

E. Demographics

1. What type of organisation do you work for?

	□ ₁ Government	D ₃	Non-government
	Private	•	Other (please specify)
2.	In what geographic locati	ion is y	our workplace is situated?
	🔲 ₁ Urban	D ₃	Rural
	Q ₂ Regional		Remote
3.	What state or territory do	you w	vork in?
4.	How long have you been	workir	ng for this organisation? years months

5.	How long have you been working in the AOD	field? years months
6.	How long have you been working as a manag	er in the AOD field?
7.	What is your age?	years
8.	Are you working full-time or part-time?	\Box_1 Full-time \Box_2 Part-time
9.	What is your gender?	Image: A state of the state
10.	Which of the following options best describes \square_1 Permanent \square_3 Casual \square_2 Contract \square_4 Other (please	
11.	What is your professional background? $\begin{array}{c} \square \\ 1 \\ 2 \end{array} AOD worker \\ \square \\ 2 \\ 3 \end{array} AOD worker \\ \square \\ 3 \end{array} Social worker \\ \square \\ 5 \\ 0 \\ 6 \end{array} Doctor \\ \square \\ 6 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$	
12.	 Please indicate the HIGHEST formal qualification 1 Secondary school – less than Year 12 2 Secondary school – completed Year 12 3 TAFE 4 University Degree Undergraduate or Honours 	D ₅ Postgraduate Masters degree
13.	 Please indicate ALL qualifications you have condrugs were the <i>primary focus</i> or a <i>substanti</i> boxes that apply). 1 Non-accredited training courses 2 Accredited short courses 3 TAFE 4 University Degree Undergraduate or Honours 	

THANK YOU FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE

Please enclose the questionnaire in the reply paid envelope provided and return it to NCETA

APPENDIX II

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN WORK FACTORS AND WELLBEING INDICATORS

														-		-				-	
		≥	٩٢	RA	ဗ္ဗ	SN	æ	æ	₽	PR AR KP NR FR PE MC SPD 0S	Æ	문	Э М	۲9 ۲		പ് സ	ខ	⊢	ш	<u>ပ</u>	노
Ň	Work Factors																				
÷	Workload (W)	1.00																			
N.	Job autonomy (JA)	06	1.00																		
ю.	Role ambiguity (RA)	.11*	.11*40** 1.00	1.00																	
4.	Role conflict (RC)	.40**	12*	.08	1.00																
5.	Workplace support (WS)	19**	.30**	34**	21**	1.00															
.0	Lack of perceived reciprocity (PR)	.26**	27**	.20**	.25**	42**	1.00														
٦.	Adequacy of remuneration (AR)	-,17**	.08	.05	13*	.04	28** 1.00	1.00													
ω.	Knowledge of performance (KP)	16**	.36**	.36**49**03	03	.32**	34**	00.	1.00												
ю.	Non-financial rewards (NR)	-,09		.44**27**	F.	.43**	29**	.20**	.43**	1.00											
10.	. Financial rewards (FR)	12*	<u>60</u>	10	02	.19**	08	.23**	.17**	.39**	1.00										
11.	. Physical environment (PE)21**	21**	.18**	16**	21**	.26**	25**	.16**	.20**	.16** .	.16**	1.00									
12.	Perceived management competency (MC)	07	.15**	29**	.15**29**18** .24**		04	60.	.18**		.14**	.16**	1.00								
13.	Support for professional development (SPD)	12*		.33** 22** 12*	-,12*	.34**	25**	.24**	.25**	.49**	.24**	.16**	.31**	1.00							
14.	14. Organisational support (OS)26**	26**	.26**	.25**	21**	.39**	39**	.22**	35**	.42**	.16** .	.25**	90.	38**	1.00						
We	Wellbeing indicators																				
15.	5. Job satisfaction (JS)	08		.27**31**	03	.38**	38**	.12*	.33**	.26**	.06	.24**	.16**	.22**	.26** 1	1.00					
16.	Organisational commitment (OC)	07	.36**	22**	.36** 22** 18**	39**	.39**32** .14**		.27**	.38**	.16**	.25**	.19**	.35**	.33**	.54** 1.00	00.1				
17.	. Turnover intention (T)	.17**	21**	.20**	.16*	36**	.39**	20** -	.27** -	20**27**33**17**33**22**35**	.17** -	.33** -	.22** -	.35** -	33**43**	43**	47** 1.00	1.00			
18.	. Exhaustion (E)	.35**	16** .	.26**	.24**	29**	.37**	13* -	.29** -	13*29**16**11*31**24**12*	11*	.31** -	.24** -		28**45**26**	45**	26** .	.40**	1.00		
19.	Cynicism (C)	.15**	37**	.35**	.17**	42**	.44**	17**46**37**	46** -	37**	- 60	.32** -	- "25** -	- 29** -	32**25**29**35**64**49**	.64**		.56**	.53** 1	1.00	
20.	20. Professional efficacy (PF)	07		.31**36**13*	13*	.31**21**	21**	.10	.31**	.14*	01	.26**	.36**	.15**	.20**	.50**	43** -	.27** -	.43** 27** 26** 47** 1.00	47** 1	00.

Note: *p = .01** p = .001



